
 

 
Addenbrooke House   Ironmasters Way    Telford   TF3 4NT 

 

Continued… 

CABINET 

 

Date Thursday, 22 April 2021 Time 10.00 am 

Venue Remote Meeting 

 

Enquiries Regarding this Agenda 

Democratic Services Stacey Worthington / Kieran Robinson 01952 384382 / 382061 

Media Enquiries Corporate Communications 01952 382406 

Lead Officer David Sidaway, Chief Executive 01952 380130 

 
Cabinet Members: Councillor R A Overton Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 

Enforcement, Community Safety and 
Customer Services 

 Councillor A J Burford Cabinet Member for Health & Social Care 

 Councillor E M Callear Cabinet Member for Leisure, Culture and 
Visitor Economy 

 Councillor L D Carter Cabinet Member for Neighbourhood, 
Commercial Services and Regeneration 

 Councillor R C Evans Cabinet Member for Council Finance and 
Governance 

 Councillor C Healy Cabinet Member for Climate Change, 
Green Spaces, Natural and Historic 
Environment 

 Councillor S A W Reynolds Cabinet Member for Children, Young 
People, Education and Lifelong Learning 

 Councillor P Watling Cabinet Member for Cooperative 
Communities, Engagement and 
Partnerships 

 Councillor D Wright Cabinet Member for Economy, Housing, 
Transport and Infrastructure 

 Councillor S Davies Leader 
   
Invitees: Councillor W L Tomlinson Liberal Democrats 

 Councillor N A Dugmore Conservative 

 

AGENDA 
Page 

   
 

1.   Apologies for Absence 
 

  

   
 

2.   Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 

 3 - 14 

   3.   Declarations of Interest   

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

 

  
   
 

4.   Leader's Announcements 
 

  

Key  
 

5.   Affordable Warmth Strategy and 
Action Plan 
 

Cllr D Wright 15 - 46 

Key  
 

6.   Alscott Free School Presumption 
 

Cllr S A W Reynolds 47 - 54 

   
 

7.   Local Plan Scrutiny Review 
Recommendations 
 

 55 - 60 

  

 
FILMING, RECORDING & PHOTOGRAPHY 
The Council supports the principle of transparency and encourages filming, recording and taking 
photographs at its meetings that are open to the public. It also welcomes the use of social 
networking websites (such as Twitter and Facebook) and micro-blogging to communicate with 
people about what is happening, as it happens. 
There is no requirement to notify the Council in advance, but it should be noted that the Chairman 
of the meeting will have absolute discretion to terminate or suspend any of these activities if, in 
their opinion, continuing to do so would prejudice proceedings at the meeting. Full details of the 
Council’s protocol on audio/visual recording and photography at meetings can be accessed via the 
following link: 
http://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20243/council_meetings/365/filming_photography_recording_and_u
se_of_social_networking_at_meetings 

Page 2

http://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20243/council_meetings/365/filming_photography_recording_and_use_of_social_networking_at_meetings
http://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20243/council_meetings/365/filming_photography_recording_and_use_of_social_networking_at_meetings


 

 

CABINET 
 
Minutes of a meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday, 18 March 2021 at 

10.00 am by Remote Meeting 
 

PUBLISHED ON WEDNESDAY, 24 MARCH 2021 
 

(DEADLINE FOR CALL-IN: MONDAY, 29 MARCH 2021) 
 

 
Present: Councillors R A Overton (Vice-Chair), A J Burford, E M Callear, 
L D Carter, R C Evans, C Healy, S A W Reynolds, P Watling, D Wright and 
S Davies (Chair).  
 
Also Present: Cllr W L Tomlinson (Liberal Democrats / Independent Group 
Leader) and Cllr N A Dugmore (Conservative Group Leader)  
 
CAB-57 Declarations of Interest 
 
In relation to Item 8 on the agenda, Councillors S A W Reynolds and R A 
Overton noted personal, but no pecuniary, interests in relation to the Friends 
of the Cockshutt group. 
 
CAB-58 Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 
RESOLVED – that the minutes of the meeting held on 18 February 2021 
be confirmed and signed by the Chair. 
 
CAB-59 Leader's Announcements 
 
The Leader noted that it was CSE Awareness Day and reaffirmed the 
Council’s commitment to tackling what was a horrific crime. The Council’s own 
inquiry into CSE was ongoing and had received millions of pages of 
documents from the Council and other partner organisations. The Cabinet 
eagerly anticipated the inquiry’s findings so that it could work to address this 
most serious of issues. 
 
On what was International Recycling Day, the Leader expressed thanks to 
residents and the Council’s partners at Veolia for their recycling efforts. 
Thanks to their efforts, Telford & Wrekin had become the fourth most 
improved Council in the region in terms of recycling. 
 
The Leader was delighted with the work of the community action teams that 
had been mobilised across the Borough. Their hard work was helping to clean 
and green the communities of Telford.  
 
The Borough’s latest COVID-19 figures were due to be released shortly. 
There had been a significant decrease in case numbers and the Borough now 
had the lowest rate in the region. Thanks were extended to residents for their 
hard work as well as to the Council’s staff and partners. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



 

 

 
CAB-60 Environment Scrutiny Committee Recommendation 
 
The Cabinet received a presentation from Councillor C Cassar, Vice Chair of 
the Environment Scrutiny Committee. The timeliness of this report, on what 
was International Recycling Day, was noted. 
 
The Environment Scrutiny Committee had received a presentation on street 
waste and recycling and had been keen to investigate the possibility of 
installing dual-use recycling bins in the Borough. Members of the Committee 
were eager to enable and increase recycling participation in the Borough, 
allowing residents to recycle conveniently on the go. 
 
Following passionate cross-party work, the Committee made the 
recommendation to Cabinet that the Council rollout dual-use recycling bins in 
the Telford Town Park and four other major Borough parks. The 
recommendation called for the trial to be reviewed and followed by a rollout of 
dual-use bins to the Boroughs high streets.  
 
The Committee recognised the importance of providing opportunities for 
residents to recycle whilst visiting the Borough’s towns and green spaces and 
had been encouraged by the progress being made within the Borough by 
many stakeholders concerning the Climate Emergency. 
 
Cabinet Members expressed their support for this recommendation and 
thanked the Committee for its hard work. 
 
RESOLVED that: 

a) As part of the climate emergency commitment, the Council will 
install dual-recycling bins across the Borough. Working in 
partnership with Town/Parish Councils, local business and 
stakeholders, the Council will begin by installing dual-recycling 
bins across high footfall areas (including but not limited to 
Oakengates, Newport and Wellington) in the Borough including 
Telford Town Park and the Borough’s Parks.  

b) Following detailed review and evaluation of this initial trial, the on-
going provision of dual -recycling litterbins will be considered for 
a programme of further roll out.  

c) Authority be delegated to relevant officers to work with partners 
to determine the final location/s of this initial trial. 

 
CAB-61 Telford & Wrekin Draft Housing Strategy, 2020-25.  Report on 

outcome of consultation process and consideration of 
revised draft Strategy. 

 
Key Decision identified as Telford & Wrekin Draft Housing Strategy, 2020-
25. Report on outcome of consultation process and consideration of 
revised draft Strategy in the Notice of Key Decisions published on 17 
February 2021. 
 

Page 4



 

 

Councillor D Wright, Cabinet Member: Economy, Housing, Transport and 
Infrastructure presented the report of the Director: Housing, Employment & 
Infrastructure. 
 
The Council’s draft Housing Strategy, 2020-25 was approved by Cabinet in 
June 2020. This was an overarching Strategy which set out the Council’s 
commitment to work with partners and communities to ensure every resident 
had a safe and affordable home. It established three key objectives: to create 
sustainable, accessible, affordable and integrated communities; to make the 
best use of existing homes; and to provide homes to support and empower 
the most vulnerable people. 
 
The Strategy set out a series of actions and priorities to guide delivery, some 
of which would be implemented by the Council through the Local Plan 
Review, and through new investment into delivering further homes via 
Nuplace, the Better Homes for All Programme, the Council’s commitment to 
No Return to Rough Sleeping and new initiatives, which included the Safer 
and Stronger Communities programme. 
 
The Strategy also set out priorities for the Council’s partners and engagement 
through the consultation had contributed to the new Allocation Policy being 
presented to Cabinet alongside this Report. There was a commitment to work 
with the Authority on delivering the priorities in the Specialist & Supported 
Accommodation Strategy. 
 
A new Affordable Warmth Strategy and a new Empty Properties Strategy 
were to be presented to Cabinet and would be key enablers in delivering 
some of the Council’s strategic housing objectives. 
 
The importance of a decent home as the foundation for people’s lives had 
become even more apparent during the Covid-19 crisis. During this time, the 
Authority had seen many more households seek the Council’s support as they 
faced homelessness following the loss of employment or family breakdown or 
challenges with the condition of their homes. Under the commitment to ‘No 
Return to Rough Sleeping,’ since March 2020 the Authority had 
accommodated c.400 people who were faced with rough sleeping and 
prevented a further 370 from reaching this point. 
 
The Housing Strategy was a key element of how the Council would continue 
to respond to housing needs across the Borough to ensure it futureproofed 
and built resilience into its communities. 
 
The draft Housing Strategy was subject to a ten-week period of consultation in 
2020, which involved partners, stakeholders, and the community. Overall, 
there was strong support for the draft Strategy. A range of comments were 
received and a number of themes had emerged. They included: 

 New house building and infrastructure 

 Existing homes 

 Affordable homes 

 The housing needs of older, disabled and vulnerable people 

Page 5



 

 

 Green spaces and ecology 

 Climate change 
The report provided an initial response to these themes, highlighted actions 
already taken and identified how others would be addressed further over the 
life of strategy. 
 
As a result of the consultation a number of amendments had been made to 
the Strategy including:  

 To acknowledge the key themes raised through the consultation 
process 

 To reflect the impact of the Covid-19 Pandemic 

 To set out arrangements for continued partnership working and 
consultation to support the delivery of this strategy 

 
It was proposed to adopt the amended Housing Strategy (Appendix A) and to 
bring an annual report to Cabinet that set out progress in delivery against the 
objectives. 
 
Cabinet Members expressed their thanks to the officers involved in the report 
and praised what was deemed a forward-looking plan. It was noted that the 
report embodied the pledge to Build a Better Borough.  
 
The Leader of the Liberal Democrat / Independent Group expressed his 
support for the strategy and his hopes that NuPlace could set high standards 
for other developers to follow. The environmental aspects of the report were 
also praised.  
 
The Leader of the Conservative Group expressed support for the green 
agenda and an interest in the retrofitting of NuPlace properties in line with 
that. Support was expressed for the Council’s plan to use its powers to bring 
empty dwellings back into use.  
 
In response to the Leader of the Liberal Democrat / Independent Group, the 
Leader of the Council stated that as the largest private sector landlord in the 
Borough, NuPlace was well placed to raise standards across the sector.  
 
RESOLVED that:  

a) The outcome and response to the consultation process in relation 
to the draft Housing Strategy be noted. 

b) The final version of the Housing Strategy be approved. 
c) An annual progress report on the implementation of the Housing 

Strategy be received. 
 
CAB-62 Telford & Wrekin Council Housing Allocation Policy, 2021 - 

2026 
 
Key Decision identified as Telford & Wrekin Council Housing Allocation 
Policy, 2021 - 2026 
In the Notice of Key Decisions published on 17 February 2021. 
 

Page 6



 

 

Councillor D Wright, Cabinet Member: Economy, Housing, Transport and 
Infrastructure presented the report of the Director: Housing, Employment & 
Infrastructure. 
 
This report introduced a draft version of the Council’s revised Housing 
Allocation Policy. The Policy, which was a legal requirement, enabled the 
Council to work with local housing associations (Registered Providers) and to 
influence how they allocated their properties in Telford & Wrekin. It also set 
the context for when the Council nominated a household in need to a housing 
association. The Council’s wider Housing Allocation Scheme also included its 
Tenancy Strategy. Housing Associations must ‘have regard to’ the Policy and 
Tenancy Strategy but would also have their own Allocations Policies. 
 
The draft Policy supported the Council’s commitment to ensure that every 
child, young person and adult lived well in their community and the objectives 
set out in the Housing Strategy: 

 To create sustainable, accessible, affordable and integrated 
communities 

 To make the best use of existing homes 

 To provide homes to support and empower the most vulnerable people 
 
While the Council did not hold a stock of social housing and did not operate a 
Housing Register or Waiting List, it supported local residents and households 
who are in housing need to find a home within the borough by: 

 Advising and signposting them to apply direct to a local housing 
association  

 Being nominated to a housing association property by the Council  

 Receiving advice and support from the Council’s Housing Solutions 
Service 

 Publishing a Housing Allocation Policy 
 
The Council’s Housing Allocation Policy was last updated in June 2015. It was 
timely to review this given new national legislation and imminent changes in 
local arrangements for accessing social housing let by a number of housing 
associations. These changes would also provide the opportunity to review 
arrangements for the nomination of households in need by the Council to a 
number of local housing providers. The Council and the main local providers 
had worked closely together on this and the development of the draft 
Allocation Policy. 
 
The Policy, in line with national guidance, gave ‘reasonable preference’ for 
social housing to those who: 

 are homeless (statutory and non-statutory)  

 are living in unsatisfactory housing conditions  

 are owed a duty by any housing authority  

 need to move on medical or welfare grounds (including disability)  

 need to move to a particular locality in the area to avoid hardship 

Page 7



 

 

The Council could also give additional preference to households who did not 
fall into these categories but had urgent housing needs, based on local 
circumstances. It was proposed that this would include: 

 Those who would otherwise become homeless, which a planned move 
could prevent  

 Those supported by Council homelessness prevention initiatives  

 Those whose health will significantly deteriorate without a move  

 Those moving on from supported or specialist accommodation  

 Care leavers  

 Those in adapted properties where the adaptations are no longer 
required  

 Those needing to move to take up employment  

 Households living in overcrowded accommodation  

 Those who are under occupying a home which could be used to 
provide a home for a larger family  

 Members of the armed forces and their families 
An eight-week period of consultation was proposed with local partners and 
key stakeholders. Any significant changes to the draft Policy that arose from 
the consultation would be brought back to Cabinet for consideration. 
 
The Leader of the Conservative Group queried the Council’s ability to secure 
housing from social housing providers. The Cabinet Member for Economy, 
Housing, Transport and Infrastructure noted that the Authority had significant 
abilities to secure housing with its partners and that local providers often 
approached the Council for nominations. 
 
The Leader of the Liberal Democrat / Independent Group welcomed the 
document being opened for consultation. A guarantee was sought that 
residents would be able to access assistance via mediums other than the 
internet when applying for housing. The Cabinet Member stated that there 
would indeed be alternative ways to contact the Authority, this included a 
dedicated hotline and the option to write to Council if preferred.  
  
 
RESOLVED that: 

a) The Council’s revised draft Housing Allocation Policy and 
Tenancy Strategy for consultation be approved. 

b) An eight week period of external consultation be agreed. 
c) Responsibility be delegated to the Director: Housing, Employment 

and Infrastructure, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Economy, Housing, Transport & Infrastructure to update and 
finalise the draft Policy & Strategy following the consultation. Any 
significant changes required as a result of external consultation 
would be brought back to Cabinet for approval before the Policy & 
Strategy are finalised. 

 
CAB-63 Definitive Map Modification Order - Policy and Procedures 
 

Page 8



 

 

Key Decision identified as Definitive Map Modification Order - Policy and 
Procedures in the Notice of Key Decisions published on 17 February 2021. 
 
Councillor C Healy, Cabinet Member: Visitor Economy, Historic & Natural 
Environment and Climate Change presented the report of the Director: 
Prosperity & Investment. 
 
The Council was undertaking a major transformation of how Public Rights of 
Way were managed by the Authority, this included the digitisation of the 
Definitive Map and its Statement, other records and data, the processing of 
orders, and the categorisation of the Public Rights of Way in the Borough. 
 
The Definitive Map and Statement was the official record of footpaths, 
bridleways, restricted bridleways and bypasses open to all traffic. A Definitive 
Map Modification Order (DMMO) was a method by which the Definitive Map 
and Statement could be changed where it was believed there was an error or 
omission. A DMMO could not create access rights that did not already exist, 
remove rights that did exist or divert paths onto a preferred route, it was only 
concerned with modifying the definitive map to show the rights that legally 
existed; this included through the evidence of a claimed route for a historic 
right of way. The decision on whether or not to make such a correction was 
based purely on the evidence of what public rights exist and it was important 
to understand that the process was not concerned with issues of management 
of the ways, desirability of the routes or other such matters. 
 
The Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 required Local Authorities to keep a 
register of all applications for a Definitive Map Modification Order and this 
register must be made available to the public. 
 
The report set out the proposal to adopt a new policy and procedure that 
would clearly identify how the Council would prioritise and determine 
outstanding and new applications to modify the Definitive Map. Consequently, 
the Council would be able to determine decisions more efficiently through a 
transparent and defined process. 
 
RESOLVED that: 

a) The Definitive Map Modification Order be approved. 
b) Authority be delegated to the Director for Prosperity and 

Investment in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Visitor 
Economy, Historic & Natural Environment and Climate Change to 
periodically review and amend the policy as required. 

 
CAB-64 Declaration of The Cockshutt Local Nature Reserve 
 
The Cabinet Member: Visitor Economy, Historic & Natural Environment and 
Climate Change presented the report of the Director: Prosperity & Investment. 
 
This report set out proposals for Cabinet to approve the declaration of The 
Cockshutt Local Nature Reserve (LNR) under Sections 19 and 21 of the 
National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949. 

Page 9



 

 

 
The declaration of The Cockshutt as a local nature reserve formed part of a 
wider program of works being delivered by the Council to protect, care and 
invest in the Borough’s natural environment. To date, the program had 
protected over 1000ha of locally important green spaces valued by local 
communities, protecting 200 Green Guarantee sites and 16 Local Nature 
Reserves (LNRs). 
 
The declaration of The Cockshutt would bring the number of LNRs in the 
Borough to 17 and complete the Cabinet process for those LNRs identified 
within the adopted Telford and Wrekin Local Plan (2011- 2031). The Local 
Plan was under review and the recent Issues and Options consultation had 
identified the designation of further LNRs as a key driver in the delivery of an 
enhanced and better protected natural environment within the Borough and 
therefore it was envisaged that further sites would be brought forward for 
declaration in due course. 
 
The proposals to declare the site as a Local Nature Reserve would recognise 
the site’s local importance for people and for wildlife nationally. These 
proposals were strongly supported by ward members, three local parish 
councils and a number of local groups, in particular the Friends of the 
Cockshutt, part of the Telford Green Space Partnership. 
 
Cabinet Members expressed their delight that the space was being protected; 
this was compounded by the increased importance of green spaces over the 
preceding twelve months. Thanks were offered to the Friends of the Cockshutt 
group for their work.  
 
The Leaders of the Conservative and the Liberal Democrat / Independent 
Groups both expressed their support for the declaration noting the importance 
of protecting green space.  
 
The Leader of the Council stated that with more green flag parks than ever 
before, the delivery of 17 local nature reserves, more country park 
designations, and hundreds of green guarantee sites Telford & Wrekin’s 
unique green-urban blend was protected and enhanced by the Council. 
Residents were never far from green space and the Council’s message was 
that residents should get out and enjoy them. Such fantastic resources had to 
be celebrated.  
 
RESOLVED that: 

a) The declaration of the Cockshutt Local Nature Reserve be 
approved.  

b) Authority to complete the declaration process be delegated to the 
Director for Prosperity and Investment and the Associate Director 
for Policy and Governance in consultation with the Cabinet 
member for Visitor Economy, Historic & Natural Environment and 
Climate Change. 

 
CAB-65 Telford & Wrekin Council Becoming Carbon Neutral Action 

Page 10



 

 

Plan Annual Review 
 
Key Decision identified as Telford & Wrekin Council Becoming Carbon 
Neutral Action Plan Annual Review in the Notice of Key Decisions 
published on 17 February 2021. 
 
Councillor C Healy, Cabinet Member: Visitor Economy, Historic & Natural 
Environment and Climate Change presented the report of the Director: 
Communities, Customer & Commercial Services. 
 
The Becoming Carbon Neutral Action Plan Annual Review report set out the 
progress the Council had made since declaring a Climate Emergency.  
 
The Council had been committed to reducing its carbon footprint for the last 
ten years. However, following the declaration of a Climate Emergency in July  
2019, with a clear target for the Council’s operations to be carbon neutral by  
2030, action to tackle climate change had been at the heart of everything the 
Authority did.  
 
Good progress had been made in reducing emissions from the Council’s 
operations, with a 36% decrease in 2019/20 compared to the previous 
baseline year. Emissions for the year 2020/21 would show a further reduction 
and would be published later this year. 
 
This was as a result of the successful implementation of a wide range of 
carbon reduction measures. The Council had continued to prioritise this work, 
recognising the need to respond to the climate emergency as well as the 
Covid-19 Pandemic. 
 
Actions planned for the next year included a £1.37m grant-funded scheme to 
fit heat pumps and improved insulation in Council Leisure Centres, retrofitting 
Council buildings and temporary housing, measures to deliver a 30% 
reduction in business travel and a commitment to plant a tree in a community 
forest for every reception age child in Telford & Wrekin on Council-owned 
land. 
 
The report updated on how the Council had been working with partners 
locally, regionally, and nationally on the climate change agenda. The 
Partnership was developing an action plan to tackle climate change across 
the wider Borough, which would be published for public consultation later in 
2021. 
 
The Council had also run a successful programme of communication 
campaigns in 2020/21 to help residents, businesses and communities make 
changes to reduce their carbon footprints. In order to enable even more local 
organisations to take action, the Council launched a new £100k Climate 
Change Fund in February 2021. 
 

Page 11



 

 

Covid-19 had not undermined progress but had strengthened it with the 
changes to how everybody worked and lived. Sustainability was embedded at 
the heart of the Borough’s post-Covid recovery,  
 
The importance of this issue to the community was illustrated in the 2020 
Residents’ Survey, which found that the majority of Telford & Wrekin residents 
were concerned about climate change. The Authority could not succeed alone 
and required more legislation and greater funding support from Government.  
 
The Leader of the Liberal Democrat / Independent Group welcomed the report 
and noted the Borough’s successes, specifically the solar farm and LED street 
lighting. Support was also stated for tree planting campaigns.  
 
The Leader of the Conservative Group noted the importance of selecting the 
right tree for the right site. Clarification was sought on the location of the new 
community forest and on the planned number of electrical vehicle charging 
points in the Borough. 
 
In response to the Leader of the Conservative Groups questions, trees for the 
forest would be planted at appropriate sites across the Borough as opposed to 
a single site. With regard to electric vehicle charging points, the Council was 
pursuing a number of strategies, investigating a forecourt scheme in 
partnership with the private sector, and how to facilitate charging in areas 
without private driveways. 
 
 
RESOLVED that: 

a) The Council’s updated Becoming Carbon Neutral Action Plan 
2020/21 set out in Appendix 1 outlining how the Council will 
continue to work to reduce carbon emissions from the Council’s 
operations and activities and influence carbon reduction Borough 
wide, be approved. 

b) Authority be delegated to the Director for Communities, Customer 
& Commercial Services (and any Council Officer authorised in 
writing by the Director for Communities, Customer & Commercial 
Services) to exercise the Council’s powers relating to the 
preparation, publication, consultation, and processing to secure 
the delivery of the Borough Action Plan. 

c) This report in relation to the Council’s response to the Climate 
Emergency Declaration be noted and referred to Full Council for 
information as part of the ‘Matters Determined by the Cabinet’ 
report.  

 
The meeting ended at 11.02 am 
 
Signed for the purposes of the Decision Notices 

Page 12



 

 

 
Anthea Lowe 
Associate Director: Policy & Governance 
Date:  Wednesday, 24 MARCH 2021 
 

 
Signed  

 
Date: 

 
Thursday, 22 April 2021 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

TELFORD & WREKIN COUNCIL 
 
CABINET - 22nd April 2021  
 
TELFORD & WREKIN DRAFT AFFORDABLE WARMTH STRATEGY 2021-26  
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR - HOUSING, EMPLOYMENT & INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
LEAD CABINET MEMBER – COUNCILLOR DAVID WRIGHT, CABINET MEMBER FOR 
ECONOMY, HOUSING, TRANSPORT & INFRASTRUCTURE 

 
PART A) – SUMMARY REPORT 
 
1. SUMMARY OF MAIN PROPOSALS 
 
1.1 A decent place to live is the foundation on which people build their lives.  If you’ve got a warm, 

safe home then health, employment, educational achievement and a happy family live are 

much easier to obtain.  Some 80% of the homes that will be with us in 20 years’ time are here 

already and we are committed to ensuring that these homes are as good as the best of what 

is being built now.   

 

1.2 Across both the urban and rural parts of our Borough 9.4% or 7220 households are considered 

to be in fuel poverty.  This is below the national and regional average and reflects work already 

undertaken over the last 2 years however it does mean that there are individuals and families 

living in homes that are cold and damp, with poor energy efficiency and who are paying more 

than they can afford on fuel costs.   

 

1.3 The Affordable Warmth Strategy (Appendix 1) has been developed with the aim to improve 

the energy efficiency of housing stock of all tenures across the Borough.  As an Authority that 

does not hold its own housing stock the delivery of this Strategy will involve working with many 

partners including social and private landlords, residents, health agencies and delivery 

organisations including Marches Energy Agency.  The Strategy also provides a basis for 

seeking more Government funding to raise the quality of our homes including areas within our 

Safer and Stronger Communities programme. 

 

1.4 The Strategy aims to: 

 

 Reduce the number of fuel poor households from a 2018 baseline figure of 9.4% (7220 

households) 

 Close the gap targeting those areas of the Borough with the highest levels of fuel poverty 

and addressing inequalities 

 Improve the health and wellbeing of the most vulnerable people in our community, 

by ensuring they live in a warm and comfortable home 

1.5    Through the Strategy we will work with partners to: 
 

 Raise energy awareness and provide support to households across the borough  

 Maximise household incomes 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



2 
 

 Improve the energy efficiency of the Borough’s housing stock including through 

retrofit 

 Support our local businesses to deliver interventions, benefitting the local economy 

 Support delivery of our Climate Change Action Plan wherever possible  

1.6 We have already made significant progress – with actions over the last six months including: 
 

 Achieving an award of £566,800 Local Authority Delivery (LAD) Funding to pilot 

proposals for the retrofit of c.50 owner occupied and rented properties in South Telford 

 Increasing the number of vulnerable residents who can benefit from measures 

installed under the Energy Company Obligation (ECO) Funding by publishing a local ECO-

Flex Statement of Intent which extends the national definition. 

 Through Nuplace’s Southwater Way development establishing our commitment to 

address carbon reduction initiatives wherever possible, setting a standard for private 

rented sector 

 Developing a new Communications Plan designed to reach all residents in need 

incorporating podcasts, social media and energy efficiency information in Council Tax 

reminders 

1.7 Our Action Plan (Appendix 2) sets out how we will deliver our aims in partnership.  This is a 
live document that will be developed with partners both through the proposed consultation 
period, and on an ongoing basis.  Amongst the actions planned for the next 12 months we 
will: 

 

 Launch a T&W Affordable Warmth ‘Top-Up’ Fund to support vulnerable residents to 

access ECO funding where a client contribution in required  

 Provide financial support to develop the services offered by the Telford and Wrekin 

Energy Advice Centre (TEA) to ensure residents can access streamlined advice and 

support maximising their access to the wide range of grants and services offered by 

partners  

 Design a new web-site for all energy efficiency services and information across the 

borough for launch in early autumn to coincide with increased seasonal demand for 

services.   

 Continue to set standards in new development through Nuplace and the management 

of our temporary accommodation stock - to reduce energy bills and carbon emissions 

 Focus on ensuring landlords meet their Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards 

through information, advice, access to funding, and, where necessary enforcement action 

1.8 As well as bringing many social benefits it is well recognised that cold homes are a source of 
both physical and mental ill health – warmer homes are healthier homes, and reducing fuel 
poverty will protect the health of our most vulnerable residents which in turn will reduce the 
strain on health and social care services.  The Strategy will contribute to the ambitions of the 
Telford & Wrekin Health & Wellbeing Strategy 2020-2023 and the work of organisations 
including the Telford & Wrekin Integrated Place Partnership.   

 
1.9 The Strategy will also contribute to delivery of the Council’s Climate Change commitments 

and links to other corporate strategies including Better Homes for All and the Safer & Stronger 
Communities Programme.  It will also bring benefits to the local economy putting money back 
into resident’s pockets and enabling opportunities for local businesses to deliver retrofit and 
home improvement schemes. 

Page 16



3 
 

 
1.10 It is proposed to undertake a six week period of consultation targeting partners and key 

stakeholders.    
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
It is recommended that Cabinet:- 
 
2.1 Approves the Council’s draft Affordable Warmth Strategy for a six week period of 

consultation with partners and stakeholders.  
 
2.2 Delegates responsibility to the Director - Housing, Employment and Infrastructure, in 

consultation with the Cabinet Member for Economy, Housing, Transport & 
Infrastructure to update and finalise the draft Strategy following the consultation.  
Any significant changes required as a result of the consultation will be brought back 
to Cabinet for approval before the Strategy is finalised. 

 
2.3    Delegates responsibility to the Director – Housing, Employment & Infrastructure, in 

consultation with the Cabinet Member for Economy, Housing, Transport & 
Infrastructure to finalise and launch the Affordable Warmth “Top-up” Fund based on 
the criteria set out in the local ECO-Flexible Eligibility Statement of Intent approved at 
Cabinet on 9th July 2020 and published on the Council’s web-site on 17th December 
2020 

 
2.4 Receives an annual progress report on the implementation of the Affordable Warmth 

Strategy 
 
2.5    Note that the Council will report bi-annually to the Secretary of State in line with its 

obligations under the Home Energy Conservation Act 1995 (HECA) 
 

 
3. SUMMARY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 

COMMUNITY 
IMPACT 

Do these proposals contribute to specific Co-Operative Council priority 
objective(s)? 

Yes Every child, young person and adult lives well in their community. 

Will the proposals impact on specific groups of people? 

Yes All residents of the borough, particularly those living in fuel 
poverty and/or who’s health is at risk through living in a 
cold/damp home 

TARGET 
COMPLETION/ 
DELIVERY DATE 
 

It is proposed that a six week period of consultation be undertaken.  
Following the analysis of consultation responses, the document will be 
finalised as soon as possible. 

FINANCIAL/ 
VALUE FOR 
MONEY IMPACT 

 The Council has been awarded a Green Homes Grant capital 
allocation of up to £566,800 plus £2,750 mobilisation payment to 
be spent by 31 December 2021, and appropriate changes will be 
made to the Capital Programme. 
Existing allocations within the approved capital programme of 
£50,000 will be used to support a number of initiatives including 
the provision of top up funding to ECO applications where a client 
contribution is required as detailed in s1.4 above. DR 11/3/21 

LEGAL ISSUES  Section 2 of the Home Energy Conservation Act 1995 (HECA) 
requires the local authority , as an “energy conservation 

Page 17



4 
 

authority”, to publish and submit reports to the Secretary of State 
demonstrating measures adopted to improve the energy 
efficiency of residential accommodation (owner-occupier, private 
rented and social rented sectors) within its area. The latest 
reporting guidance for local authorities was published in January 
2021, with the Sustainable Warmth fuel poverty strategy 
published in February 2021. 
 
Properties with an efficiency rating of F or G are “substandard” 
under Regulation 22 of The Energy Efficiency (Private Rented 
Property (England and Wales) Regulations 2015, also known as 
the Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards (MEES) Regulations.  
 
Since 1st April 2020 landlords can no longer let or continue to let 
properties with an EPC rating below E, unless there is a valid 
exemption in place. 
 
Consultation upon updated MEES Regulations, including raising 
the minimum EPC rating to C, concluded in January 2021. 
 
The local authority is an “enforcement authority” for the purposes 
of the MEES Regulations.  
 
The Council’s Eco Flexible Eligibility Statement of Intent 
published on 17th December 2020 under a discretionary power 
set out in the Energy Company Obligation (ECO) Scheme, with 
measures accompanied by such a statement set out in article 
16A of the Electricity and Gas (Energy Company Obligation) 
Order 2014, and updated measures set out in article 17 of the 
Electricity and Gas (Energy Company Obligation) Order 2018. 
KF 18.03.2021 

OTHER IMPACTS, 
RISKS & 
OPPORTUNITIES 

Yes  The Council’s Affordable Warmth Strategy will enable the Council 
to work with  partners, the community and other stakeholders to 
address fuel poverty and energy inefficient housing within the 
borough  

IMPACT ON 
SPECIFIC WARDS 

No Borough-wide impact 

 
PART B) – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
4. INFORMATION 

 
National Context 

 
4.1 In 1995, the Government introduced the Home Energy Conservation Act, which requires all 

local authorities to report to Central Government on energy efficiency improvements made to 
residential accommodation.  Telford & Wrekin Council will use the Affordable Warmth Strategy 
to inform and shape this report.  A HECA report is next due May 2021 

 
4.2    In 2000, The Warm Homes and Energy Conservation Act was published, creating duties for     

to tackle Fuel Poverty including putting obligations on energy companies to fund programmes 
and measures that reduce fuel poverty. 

 

Page 18



5 
 

4.3     In February 2021, The Fuel Poverty Strategy – “Sustainable Warmth: Protecting   
Vulnerable Households in England” was published.  In this Strategy, The Government made 
21 commitments to ensure all fuel poor households are made more efficient by 2030.  This 
includes a commitment to support Local Authorities reach their zero carbon targets, while also 
ensuring local businesses are involved in delivery of measures. 

 
         Local Context  

 
4.4 The Affordable Warmth Strategy supports the implementation of the 3 key objectives set out in              

our newly adopted Housing Strategy: 

 To create sustainable, accessible, affordable and integrated communities 

 To make the BEST use of our existing homes 

 To provide homes to support and empower our most vulnerable people 

 
4.5 The Health & Wellbeing Strategy 2020-2023 establishes a vision of ‘working together to 

enable people in Telford & Wrekin to enjoy healthier, happier and more fulfilling lives’.  The 
Strategy identifies that poor living conditions are a key contributor to mental and physical ill 
health and to inequalities between our communities.  Addressing fuel poverty will support the 
Strategy’s high level outcomes to: 

 

 Improve overall healthy life expectancy in men and women  

 Halt the increasing inequalities gap in healthy life expectancy and continue to narrow the 

gap 

 Narrow the inequalities gap in life expectancy for people with serious mental health 

problems 

 

4.6 The Council’s Better Homes for All Programme sets out to improve the quality of 
accommodation for people who privately rent.  Objectives in the Affordable Warmth Strategy 
will help landlords meet their Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards by 2025.  

   
4.7    The Affordable Warmth Strategy supports delivery of our Climate Change Action Plan          

This includes a commitment to improve energy efficiency in the stock we hold for temporary 
accommodation and influence standards in the private rented sector through Nuplace, and 
encouraging the use of renewable technology in retrofit projects, wherever practical. 

  
4.8   The proposals also support the Council’s focus on delivering Safer & Stronger Communities  

with a commitment to focus interventions, where possible, to support physical regeneration   
and renewal particularly in the South Telford Estates. 

 
The Challenge of Fuel Poverty 
 
4.9 A household is considered in fuel poverty if they have fuel costs above the average and, if they 

spent that amount, they would be below the official poverty line.  
  
4.10 Based on this definition across the Borough 7220 – or 9.4% of our households are considered 

to be in fuel poverty.  This figure is below the regional and national average but across the 
borough there are Wards where over 14% of households are in fuel poverty.  A number of 
these areas include those ranked amongst the most deprived nationally illustrating the link 
between fuel poverty and reduced health, wellbeing and educational attainment. 

 
4.11 Those in fuel poverty include owner occupiers and tenants and delivery of our strategy will 

require the support and engagement of social and private landlords as well as residents, Parish 

Page 19



6 
 

& Town Councils and community organisations.  Links with key health partners including the 
Telford & Wrekin Integrated Place Partnership will ensure alignment of priorities and to raise 
awareness and ensure support is targeted to our elderly and vulnerable residents. 

 
Our Aims & Objectives 
 
4.12 Through the Affordable Warmth Strategy we aim to 
 

 Reduce the number of fuel poor households from the baseline of 7220 households 

 Close the gap  targeting those areas of the Borough with the highest levels of fuel poverty 

and addressing inequalities 

 Have a positive impact on improving the health and wellbeing of the most vulnerable 

residents ensuring they can continue to live in a warm, comfortable home 

4.13   Working with partners across all tenures we will do this by: 
 

 Raising energy awareness and providing support – specifically streamlining and 

simplifying residents access to existing grants as well as working to access funding to create 

new, bespoke programmes 

 Maximising household income and benefitting the local economy – raising the profile 

of schemes like the Council’s Switch Telford and maximising opportunities for local trades 

and suppliers to deliver interventions and supporting the growth and innovation in our 

existing green energy sector  

 Improving the energy efficiency of our housing stock – accessing funding including 

through the Local Authority Delivery (LAD) Programme to deliver retrofit schemes targeting 

areas including South Telford – and older and more vulnerable residents 

4.14 The Council has been awarded £566,000 under the Local Authority Delivery 2 Programme.   
To drawdown this funding we have submitted proposals allowing us to target grant funding of 
up to £10,000/property to c.50 owner occupiers and private and social housing tenants to 
implement a range of energy improvement measures.  This pilot scheme will be used to 
establish the impact this investment can have and support bids for further LAD and related 
opportunities allowing us to develop bespoke programmes. 

 
4.15 As a number of existing schemes require client contributions we will be launching an Affordable 

Warmth ‘Top Up’ Fund to bridge the gap for some of our most vulnerable residents ensuring 
they are able to access funding opportunities.  The criteria for support will be based on those 
adopted as part of the Eco Flex Eligibility Statement of Intent approved by Cabinet in December 
2020.     

 
Monitoring & Reporting 

 
4.16 The Strategy sets out how we plan to evidence, monitor and report against our aims and 

objectives to ensure that we deliver against our target to reduce fuel poverty.   
 
4.17 Our main delivery partners will provide information against KPI’s on a quarterly and annual 

basis and we will report annually on our success.   
 
 
5. IMPACT ASSESSMENT – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

No further comments.  
 

Page 20



7 
 

6. PREVIOUS MINUTES 
 

 
7. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Draft Affordable Warmth Strategy 2021-2026 
Draft Action Plan  
Better Homes for All Cabinet Report – 9th July 2020 

 
 

Report prepared by Mandy Findlay, Affordable Warmth Project Officer, 
mandy.findlay@telford.gov.uk 01952 382176 

Page 21

mailto:mandy.findlay@telford.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Telford & Wrekin’s 

Affordable Warmth 

Strategy 
2021-2026

care and invest

        

Our vision 

to protect,

April 2021

Page 23



32 Telford & Wrekin Affordable Warmth Strategy Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

Contents

1. Foreward by Councillor David Wright

2. Executive Summary

3. Definition of Fuel Poverty 

4. Strategic Context 

5. Our Borough 

6. Raising Energy Awareness and Providing Support 

7. Maximising Household Income and Benefitting the  
 Local Economy    

8. Improving Energy Efficiency & Raising Standards    

9. Monitoring and Reporting 

Delivery -  Action Plan

We will be 
working with 
partners 
to increase 
awareness 
and signpost 
into energy 
efficiency 
programmes. 

We will also link to 

communities and 

the voluntary sector 

who can help raise 

awareness including 

the Telford & Wrekin 

Intergrated Place 

Partnership. 

Our partners:

4-5

6-7

8-9

10-13

14-17

18-21

22-24

25-27

28-29

P
age 24



54 Telford & Wrekin Affordable Warmth Strategy Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

Foreword

Telford & Wrekin’s 

Affordable Warmth 

Strategy is about more 

than just keeping 

people warm at 

home. The impacts 

and benefits are wide 

ranging, not just for 

the individual, but for 

our communities as 

a whole. As well as 

the  social benefits 

of addressing fuel 

poverty and putting 

money back into 

people’s pockets, it 

is well recognised 

that cold homes 

are a source of both 

physical and mental ill 

health. 

1

Warmer homes are healthier homes, and reducing 
fuel poverty will protect the health of our most 
vulnerable residents, which in turn will reduce 
the strain on health and social care services. 
Fuel poverty is a clear health inequalities issue, 
and as such this strategy clearly contributes to 
the ambitions of the Telford & Wrekin Health & 
Wellbeing Strategy 2020-2023.

There is evidence that babies living in cold, damp 
homes are more likely to suffer from respiratory 
illnesses such as asthma and children in warmer 
homes are proven to do better at school. People 
with long term conditions are especially vulnerable 
to fuel poverty, for example those with mobility 
issues who spend more time at home, and those 
at high risk of cold-related illness such as heart 
disease and mental health problems.  

The coronavirus pandemic too has obvious 
relevance, for example its effect on respiratory 
health and the impact on people struggling to pay 
energy bills. 

We are committed to helping  people improve the 
homes in which they live and, with it, their quality 
of life. Telford & Wrekin Council with partners has 
already done a lot of work in beginning to tackle 
fuel poverty. At 9.4% the proportion of households 
in fuel poverty in the borough is lower than the 
national average, but there is still more we can do 
and we recognise the importance of this issue. 

This strategy has been developed with the aim to 
improve the energy efficiency of all housing stock 
in the borough. This will involve working with a 
range of partners, including social and private 
landlords, residents and businesses. The Strategy 
is also important in providing a basis for seeking 
more Government funding to raise the quality of all 
our homes.  

Addressing affordable warmth will also contribute 
to the delivery of our Climate Change Action Plan 
by promoting more energy efficient homes and 
reducing carbon emissions.  

There is already a raft of assistance and schemes 
available in Telford & Wrekin to help people, 
for example to effect an emergency repair or 
replacement of a boiler, and to plan for the future 
through better insulation. We want to ensure 
everyone who needs help and is eligible, knows 
how to access it now. This strategy also sets 
out how we plan to raise standards, attracting 
investment and working with our partners to 
improve the quality and condition of some of our 
older and not so old housing.  

Tackling fuel poverty will also bring economic 
benefits and support local businesses. As well as 
many small businesses involved in construction 
and property maintenance Telford has a growing  
green energy sector with the potential for 
continued jobs growth. Through this strategy, we 
want Telford and Wrekin businesses to be at the 
forefront of new technologies, fitting insulation 
to properties, innovating in energy measures, 
creating more local jobs, reducing carbon 
emissions and making the area more sustainable 
in the future.

If people aren’t spending as much on their energy 
bills, they will also have money to spend on other 
things, further supporting local jobs and the local 
economy.

Decent homes are key to improving quality of life 
and this new Strategy will help to improve health, 
wellbeing and comfort  contributing to happier 
more settled lives.

Councillor David 
Wright. Cabinet 
Member for Economy, 
Housing, Transport and 
Infrastructure.

P
age 25



76 Telford & Wrekin Affordable Warmth Strategy Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

2

The Council’s Housing Strategy identifies 3 key 
objectives: 

• To create sustainable, accessible, affordable 
and integrated communities

• To make the BEST use of our existing homes

• To provide homes to support and empower 
our most vulnerable people.

This Strategy supports the delivery of our 
overarching Housing Strategy contributing to the 
delivery of all 3 objectives. It also compliments 
a number of other Council strategies The Telford 
& Wrekin Affordable Warmth Strategy, aims to 
deliver the expectations of the National Fuel 
Poverty Strategy - Sustainable Warmth Protecting 
Vulnerable Households in England. 

Our plan has been developed to improve the 
energy efficiency of all housing stock in the 
borough to:

• Reduce the number of fuel poor households  
from a 2018 baseline figure of 9.4% which 
equates to 7220 households.

• Have a positive impact on improving the health 
and well-being of the most vulnerable people 
in Telford & Wrekin by ensuring they live in a 
warm and comfortable home.

• Close the gap addressing those areas of the 
borough with the highest levels of fuel poverty 
and addressing inequalities.

As a non-stock owning authority, we will work with 
partners across all tenures, including registered 
providers (RP’s), tenants and landlords in the 
private rented sector and owner occupiers, to 
ensure we reach our overarching objectives 
above. We will do this by:

• Raising Energy Awareness and Providing 
Support – working with Marches Energy 
Agency and AgilityECO to promote and deliver 

existing schemes as well as accessing funding 
to create new programmes

• Maximising Household Income and 
Benefitting our Local Economy –  raising the 
profile of schemes such as Switch Telford, 
Wrekin Debt Advice, Telford & Wrekin Citizen’s 
Advice Bureau and Telford Energy Advice 
(TEA)

• Improving the Energy Efficiency of the 
Borough’s Housing Stock  – in partnership 
with Registered Providers (housing 
associations), regional bodies and local 
businesses be successful in attracting funding 
to deliver retrofit programmes, with a particular 
focus on those areas, such as South Telford, 
that suffer with the highest instances of Fuel 
Poverty.

We will evidence, monitor and report on our 
progress by:

• Publishing an Annual Action Plan and reporting 
publically on our progress. 

• Setting and monitoring performance targets for 
our delivery partners. 

• Reporting to the Secretary of State for the 
Environment bi-annually, as required by the 
Home Energy Conservation Act 1995.

• Ensuring that our Action Plan supports and 
influences other strategies including our 
Climate Change Action Plan, the Local Plan, 
Health & Wellbeing Strategy and the Safer & 
Stronger Communities Programme. 

By tackling fuel poverty and improving the energy 
efficiency of the borough’s homes, we will help 
secure better homes for all, while improving 
health, wellbeing and tackling health inequalities. 
We will also support the Council’s commitment 
to make all its activities and operations carbon 
neutral by 2030.

Homelessness 
Strategy

Specialist & 
Supported 

Accommodation 
Strategy

Housing 
Allocation Policy  

& Tenancy 
Strategy

Better Homes 
for All

Empty Property 
Strategy

Housing 
Assistance 

Policy

Affordable 
Warmth 
Strategy

The  
Local Plan

HOUSING 
STRATEGY

Economic 
Development 

Strategy 

Health & Well 
Being Strategy

Council Plan 
Our programme to Protect, Care and 

Invest to create a better borough

Council Vision 
The place of enterprise, innovation  

and partnership

Climate Change 
Strategy

Executive Summary

Housing is a key theme within the Council’s high level vision for the borough as set 
out in our programme to protect, care & invest to create a better borough.

P
age 26



98 Telford & Wrekin Affordable Warmth Strategy Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

The official definition of fuel poverty used in 
England, until February 2021 was the Low Income 
High Costs (LIHC) definition, which defines a 
household to be in fuel poverty if: 

•  They have required fuel costs that are above 
average (the national median level - 1) and; 

•  If they spent that amount they would be left 
with a residual income below the official 
poverty line (approx. £18,800 in 2020)

The key components of fuel poverty are:

• The energy efficiency of the property (and 
therefore, the energy required to heat and 
power the home)

• The cost of energy

• Household income.

Based on the above definition, Telford and Wrekin 
has shown a marked improvement in reducing 
the amount of households in fuel poverty. These 
figures were published by the government in 
2020:

There are still, however, 7220 households in 
the area considered to be in fuel poverty and 
significant variations between parts of the 

borough and this is likely to increase with the 
knock-on effect of COVID-19 and associated job 
losses and economic down turn. 

A new, national Fuel Poverty Strategy for England 
“Sustainable Warmth: Protecting Vulnerable 
Households in England” was published on 11th 
February 2021. This strategy adopts the Low 
Income Low Energy Efficiency (LILEE) indicator for 
fuel poverty. Households will be considered fuel 
poor if: 

• their disposable income (after housing and 
energy costs) is below the poverty line and 

• they live in a property with an energy efficiency 
rating of Band D or lower. 

The energy performance certificate (EPC) rating 
of a property is used to show how affordable a 
home is to keep warm. Homes rated C or above 
are more cost-effective to heat. EPC ratings do 
not take into consideration if a heating system is 
broken, faulty or simple not being used.  

This definition will be used going forward, and will 
alter the baseline position nationally for all local 
authority areas from 2022.

3

There are 7220 
households 
in the area 
considered 
to be in fuel 
poverty. 

This is likely to 

increase with the 

knock-on effect 

of COVID-19 and 

associated job losses 

and economic down 

turn. 

Definition of Fuel Poverty 

1  https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/882159/fuel-poverty-factsheet-2020-
2018-data.pdf

2017 households  
in Fuel Poverty

2018  households  
in Fuel Poverty

England 10.9% 10.3%

West Midlands 12.6% 11.4%

Telford & Wrekin 11.0% 9.4%

P
age 27



1110 Telford & Wrekin Affordable Warmth Strategy Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

We aim to 
reduce the 
number of 
fuel poor 
households  
in the area.

Our joined up 

approach is supported 

and complimented by 

our other strategies 

and policies; at local, 

regional and national 

level.

Strategic context 
Developing and delivering an Affordable Warmth Strategy for Telford and Wrekin, 
not only focuses attention on reducing the number of residents suffering from the 
effects of living in a cold, damp home, it also supports other national, regional and 
local strategies. 

4

National Strategies and 
Schemes 
Home Energy Conservation Act (HECA) 1995 
– requires all local authorities in England to 
report bi-annually to the Secretary of State to  
demonstrate what energy conservation measures 
they have adopted to improve the energy 
efficiency of all residential accommodation within 
that area. The Department of Business, Energy 
and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) uses data submitted 
to inform policy thinking on energy efficiency 
measures.

The Warm Homes and Energy Conservation Act 
2000 –  created duties for Government to tackle 
fuel poverty which remains in force today.

Housing Act 2004 – Among other legislation, this 
act introduced  the Housing and Health Safety 
Rating System (HHSRS). The HHSRS is a risk-
based evaluation tool to help local authorities 
identify and protect against potential risks and 
hazards to health and safety from any deficiencies 
identified in dwellings. It includes damp and 
mould as well as excess cold. This is addressed 
through our ‘Better Homes for All’ programme to  
educate, encourage and enforce better standards 
in the private rented sector. 

In November 2020 the Prime Minister announced  
a new ten point plan for a green industrial 
revolution which is intended to  create and 
support up to 250,000 British jobs. Housing 
features heavily in the ten listed points including 
more investment into cleaner energy sources, 
innovation and finance. Measures in relation to 
improving  the energy efficiency of homes and 
public buildings include:

• Energy Company Obligation (ECO) extended 
from 2022 until 2026 – requiring energy 
companies to invest into schemes and 
projects that support the fuel poor and up-
grade inefficient homes.

• Local Authority Delivery Fund – funding 
available via Regional Hubs – for Telford The 
Midlands Energy Hub – for new technology 
and insulation measures.  

• Homes Upgrade Grant – opportunity for off-
grid properties to receive funding to install 
green technology from 2022.

• Private rented sector – strengthening of 
requirements by landlords to make homes 
energy efficient through advice, enforcement 
and works in default. 

• Future Homes Standard – future proof new 
homes to avoid expensive retrofit 

• A consultation is also due on Green Homes 
Finance.  

A new national Fuel Poverty Strategy  – 
“Sustainable Warmth: Protecting Vulnerable 
Households in England” – was published 
in February 2021, providing the context for 
implementing the ten point plan. The Government 
makes 21 commitments to ensure all fuel poor 
households are made more energy efficient by 
2030. There is also a focus on the health benefits 
of action and links to the national target to achieve  
zero carbon emissions by 2050.

P
age 28



1312 Telford & Wrekin Affordable Warmth Strategy Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

4

Better Care Fund – is a programme spanning 
both the NHS and local government which seeks 
to join-up health and care services, so that people 
can manage their own health and wellbeing, and 
live independently in their communities for as long 
as possible. 

Regional Groups and 
Organisations 
Telford & Wrekin Council as a non-constituent 
member of the West Midlands Combined 
Authority (WMCA), is able to access a number of 
regional programmes including:

WMCA/SHAP (Sustainable Housing Action 
Partnership) – a regional approach to improving 
the energy efficiency of existing homes, with 
a focus on warm homes saving lives. The 
partnership is an opportunity to access major 
investment into fuel poverty retrofit schemes 
including investment to address poor insulation 
and renewable heating solutions which support 
households and address climate change.

Midlands Energy Hub is a Central Government 
funded initiative, to support the capacity of Local 
Energy Partnerships (LEPs) and Local Authorities 
to deliver local low carbon energy projects, 
reduce carbon emissions, tackle fuel poverty and 
create new green jobs. The Hub will lead on the 
development of LAD (Local Authority Delivery) 
projects to create sustainable housing retrofit 
projects in 2021.

The Marches – we continue to work in partnership 
with our neighbouring authorities – Shropshire and 
Herefordshire  in the Marches to maximise funding 
and link up projects where these will benefit 
across our communities.  

Local Strategies and Action 
Plans
Telford & Wrekin Council is a Co-operative 
Council which means we are working 
together with our residents, partners and local 
organisations to collectively deliver the best we 
can for Telford and Wrekin with the combined 
resources we have. This includes delivering 
schemes to reduce the number of fuel poor 
households in area. 

Our Council Plan – In July 2019, the Council 
adopted a new plan too Protect, Care and Invest 
to create a better borough. This strategy will 
support delivery of the Council plan ensuring:

• Every child, young person and adult lives well 
in their community

• Our natural environment is protected, and the 
Council has a leading role in addressing the 
climate emergency

• A community-focussed, innovative council 
providing efficient, effective and quality 
services.

Telford & Wrekin Housing Strategy 2020 – 2025 –  
making our homes more energy efficient supports 
all the Housing Strategy objectives to:

• Create sustainable, accessible, affordable 
communities

• Make best use of existing homes 

• Provide homes that support and empower 
vulnerable people, by providing warmth and 
comfort

Health & Wellbeing Strategy 2020-2023 – vision 
is “Working together to enable people in Telford 
and Wrekin to enjoy healthier, happier and more 
fulfilling lives”. The key high level outcomes of the 
strategy are to:

• Improve overall healthy life expectancy in men 
and women 

• Halt the increasing inequalities gap in healthy 
life expectancy and continue to narrow the gap

• Narrow the inequalities gap in life expectancy 
for people with serious mental health problems

Our Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA)  
provides a suite of documents to build a picture 
of the social, cultural, health and economic needs 
of our communities and helps identify those 
communities in need of support. The Public 
Health Outcomes Framework used to monitor 
health and wellbeing in the borough includes an 
indicator on fuel poverty.

Better Homes for All –  sets out to improve 
the quality of accommodation for people who 
privately rent in the borough by providing advice 
and support to  landlords and using enforcement 
action, where required, to address poor standards 
and landlord practice. It is estimated that more 
than 20% of homes in the borough are now rented 
privately and this number is increasing. We will 
work with landlords and tenants to maximise the 
opportunities to improve energy standards across 
the private rented sector.

Climate Change Action Plan – The Council 
declared a Climate Emergency on 25th July 2019. 
As part of the response to this, the Council has 
committed to ensuring that its operations and 
activities are carbon neutral by 2030. The up-

dated Action Plan adopted by Cabinet in March 
2021 is a living document that sets out how 
we intend to do this, and includes a focus on 
both how we address our own accommodation 
and support improvements across the borough 
including through retrofit schemes  across all 
tenures.

Safer & Stronger Communities Programme –  
The Council has made a commitment to support 
the development of safer, stronger, more resilient 
communities. On the basis of data including 
measures of deprivation, health, employment 
and housing quality the Council has identified 
a number of Wards to be the focus of this  
Programme. This includes the former New Town 
Estates, and will see over £1.5m invested over the 
next 2 years. The quality and standards of housing 
will be a key part of the programme and the 
actions identified in this Strategy will be prioritised 
to support delivery of this Programme. 

The Telford & Wrekin Local Plan – The  
Development Plan for the Borough this sets out 
policies that will influence the quantity, location 
and standard of new housing built over the next 
20+ years and  is the starting point for assessing 
planning applications. The latest version of the 
Plan 2011-2031 was adopted in January 2018.  
The Local Plan is currently subject to review and 
key priorities underpinning that review link with  
the fuel poverty agenda –

• Tackling climate change and achieving carbon 
neutrality;

• Securing better homes for all;

• Improving health, wellbeing and tackling health 
inequalities.

P
age 29



1514 Telford & Wrekin Affordable Warmth Strategy Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

Our Borough 

Telford & Wrekin is situated 
in the West Midlands 
region, North West of the 
West Midlands conurbation. 
It is a rapidly growing urban 
area, now the largest in 
the region outside of the 
West Midlands and North 
Staffordshire conurbations.  

Telford is the largest centre but the 
borough is a place of contrasts, 
a mix of urban and rural areas 
with contemporary housing 
developments, older Borough 
Towns including Madeley and 
Dawley and traditional market 
towns including Newport. Part of 
the borough was designated as a 
New Town in 1968.  

While new housing is important, 
80% of the homes that we will 
have in 20 years’ time are here 
now, and we need to ensure that 
these are as good as the best of 
the new ones being built today.

The Housing Strategy consultation discovered that important themes for our 
residents include:

• Existing homes

• Affordable homes

• The housing needs of older, disabled and vulnerable people

• Climate Change 

All opportunities for improvement linked to the affordable warmth agenda  

5

7220 households 
are considered to  
be in fuel poverty
in Telford & Wrekin

Fuel poverty is 
higher for just over 

700 households
  

FUEL POVERTY STATS

9.4%  Telford and Wrekin

11.4% in the West Midlands area

10.3% in England

14.4% - 15.4% 
Edgmond & Ercall Magna
 

over 14%
Brookside, Donnington,  
Oakengates & Ketley Bank and 
Malinslee & Dawley Bank

6520 homes  

suffer from living in cold  
/damp conditions

are scattered  
across the borough R

EM
EM

B
ER

Our borough has 
the third lowest 
fuel poverty 
figure in the 
greater West 
Midlands.

P
age 30



1716 Telford & Wrekin Affordable Warmth Strategy Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

5While Telford & Wrekin is a growing and 
successful borough with a healthy and diverse 
housing market there are contrasts between our 
communities. A total of 18 areas (out of 108) 
in the Borough are ranked in the 10% most 
disadvantaged nationally, 26% of the Borough’s 
population, some 53,800 people are living in areas 
in the 20% most disadvantaged 16% in areas 
in the 10% most disadvantaged. These include 
areas identified as having a higher than local 
average number of households in fuel poverty.

Our People
The borough’s population is projected to rise to 
just under 200,000 by 2031. While the borough’s 
population is still comparatively young, it is 
becoming older and more diverse with over half 
of the population increase anticipated to be in the 

over 65 age group. As the population increases 
and people live longer, in line with other areas we 
are seeing an increase in older and vulnerable 
residents. This Strategy will support addressing 
those who are living with health problems or 
disability to live more comfortably for longer in 
their homes.

31,000 - report a health 
problem or disability (higher 
proportion than England) 

11,100  adults 18-64 report a 
moderate to severe disability

The Public Health Outcomes Framework 2018/19 
has fuel poverty and excess winter death as 
indicators. These indicators show no significant 
difference against recent trends.  Excess winter 
deaths in the area are 16.6% in over 85’s, 
currently below national and regional averages of 
18.2% and 17.9% respectively.

Non-gas Properties 
There are approximately 2400 properties that are 
not currently on the gas network.  1280 of these 
are EPC band E or below, which will enable us to 
explore attracting funding to heat with efficient 
renewable systems as an alternative to fossil 
fuel.  As 52% of these are privately rented, we will 
be looking at ways to engage with landlords to 
help them meet their Minimum Energy Efficiency 
Standards (MEES).

Partnership Working Health and 
the Voluntary Sector
The Telford & Wrekin Integrated Place Partnership 
provides  support to people  to live well and 
independently by engaging G.P’s and health 
providers in consultation on important areas of 
delivery. Addressing fuel poverty increases the 

opportunity for elderly and vulnerable 
residents to live longer, at home.   
We will work with the Partnership to raise  
the profile of the Strategy and support ‘live  
well’ priorities.

Registered Providers (Housing 
Associations)
Wrekin Housing Group are the largest social 
housing provider in the Borough with c.10,000 
homes and are committed to increasing their 
properties energy efficiency rating to an EPC C 
rating or above. The Group are in the process 
establishing a Strategy to deliver on its carbon 
neutral ambitions by 2050. Bromford are one of 
our larger providers with over 1400 properties. 
Sanctuary Housing have a similar level of stock 
ownership including some within our New Town 
Estates. BVT (Bourneville Village Trust), Housing 
Trust, Walsall Housing Group and Trident also 
have some stock in the area. We will continue to 
work with all our RP partners, including through 
the local Registered Provider Forum, to support 
delivery of their targets and raise standards across 
the sector.

P
age 31



1918 Telford & Wrekin Affordable Warmth Strategy Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

6

Raising Energy Awareness and Providing 
Support  

Case study 
A 96 year old Telford resident lived alone with 
no heating or hot water, using just a gas hob to 
keep warm. 

She had to sit on a very uncomfortable chair in 
the kitchen as it was the only place she could 
keep warm. 

A home visit, funded by energy redress monies 
– resulted in referral to Emergency Central 
Heating Offer programme funding a boiler 
replacement. In the meantime, TEA provided 
emergency oil-filled electric radiators for 
immediate heat.      

There are a wide range of schemes in place that 
provide advice, support and finance to those in 
fuel poverty a number of which are detailed below.  

The range and different means of accessing these 
can be a challenge particularly for vulnerable 
members of the community.  

Telford & Wrekin Council works in partnership with 
Marches Energy Agency (MEA) and AgilityECO to 
offer streamlined advice and support to residents 
targeting those in fuel poverty through:

TEA (Telford Energy Advice) – Free Hotline 
-  a free phone advice line for households from 
all tenures. It is managed by Marches Energy 
Agency, and is staffed by local advisors, who 
have an in-depth knowledge of the Telford and 
Wrekin area. This hand-holding service refers 
into all Telford schemes and offers advice on 
national initiatives such as energy suppliers 
Priority Services Register. The service includes  
home visits to fit simple energy efficient measures 
such as LED lights, draught proofing and radiator 
panels. The advice line also refers into other  
services to support the elderly and vulnerable 
including Disability Facility Grants provided via the 
Council to support the adaptation of properties.

ACTION: We will provide streamlined, 
accessible advice and support to all 
members of the community through a 
single hotline number.

ACTION: We will launch a bespoke 
Affordable Warmth web-site and 
communications campaign in Autumn 
2021 to raise the profile and streamline  
access.

ACTION: We will continue to support the  
TEA free service that refers and advises 
residents into all energy efficiency 
schemes.  

P
age 32



2120 Telford & Wrekin Affordable Warmth Strategy Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

..

6

Case Study 
Joe contacted Telford Energy Advice (TEA) 
as he was struggling to affordably heat his 
home. We carried out a home visit under the 
LEAP programme, helping him with low energy 
measures and advice. He mentioned that he 
was concerned about how well his 25 year old 
boiler was working. As it had not been serviced 
for some time, we arranged for this to be done 
by a local company, with the cost covered by 
funding.  Some weeks later he contacted us 
to say the boiler was not working.  It was just 
before Christmas, and with a number of health 
conditions, he was distressed and worried 

about how he would manage. TEA referred 
Joe for a boiler replacement under the ECHO 
scheme. Due to the complexity of the work, 
the cost was high, so secured additional funds 
from Shropshire RCC’s Winter Warmth fund to 
pay the balance. The contactors from ECHO 
were really responsive, given the urgency of 
the situation, and worked hard to get the boiler 
replaced and heating back on before the New 
Year. Usually this is the end of the story…. 
however, we were delighted this summer to 
hear back from Joe. He had now secured 
work with a support agency in Telford and had 
a client to refer to Telford Energy Advice for 
support.  

ECOFlex – under the Energy Company Obligation, 
local households can access energy efficiency 
measures funded by energy companies. We 
have published a  Statement of Intent (SOI - also 
known as Local Authority Flex) which extends 
the nationally set criteria for households who can 
apply. This funding relates to owner occupiers 
and private tenants only – more information 
is available via https://www.telford.gov.uk/
info/20675/do_you_need_advice_on_saving_
money_on_your_energy_bills/5186/eco3_local_
authority_declaration_for_telford_and_wrekin_
council

Other schemes that can be accessed by residents 
include:

ECHO (Emergency Central Heating Offer) – a free 
emergency boiler repair or replacement scheme. 
It is open to owner occupiers who are on a means 
tested benefit or covered by ECOFlex Statement 
of Intent (see above). 

Connected for Warmth – first time gas central 
heating open to owner occupiers and privately 
renting tenants. The applicant must be on a 
means tested or disability benefit, or qualify for 
ECOFlex. There can be an occasional contribution 
to make. From the financial year 2021-22, Telford 
& Wrekin Council will be providing top up funding 
to cover the contribution to support our most 
vulnerable residents. Details of who can apply will 
be published alongside this Strategy.

Heart – replacement white goods scheme. It 
covers all tenures but the applicant must be on 
a means tested or disability benefit, or qualify for 
ECOFlex. 

Telford & Wrekin Council Wellbeing Grants 
The Council provide a range of grants including 
Wellbeing Grants to prevent hospital or care 
admission, or to speed up hospital or care 
discharge, by improving conditions in the home. 
We are also creating links with the Wellbeing 
Independence Partnership – an information and 
advice service for adults with care and support 
needs who are not known to statutory services.  

ACTION: we will continue to work with 
partners including Telford & Wrekin 
Integrated Place Partnership to ensure 
that  grant assistance is maximised 
and targeted to fuel poor homes and to 
support independent living.

The schemes mentioned rely on external funding 
to continue to support residents. Although ECO 
has been extended until 2026, there is an annual 
allocation, which means all capital works are 
administered on a first come, first served basis. 
To allow grants to extend further, Telford & Wrekin 
Council are investing into energy efficiency 
schemes to:

• Ensure continuity

• Support those clients who cannot afford to 
make a contribution that may be a requirement 
to access existing grants

• Have a greater say on the measures available 
and grant criteria

• Ensure effective targeting geographically to 
reach those most in need

The Council’s aim is to ensure grant funding for 
affordable warmth is tailored to the borough’s 
requirements. We will seek to either directly 
develop or manage, all energy efficiency 
capital programmes to maximise the benefits 
to residents and the local economy – including 
local employment – and to ensure high-standard 
services.

The Council will continue to source and lobby 
for additional funding working with partners, 
to  extend the impact of existing schemes and 
establish new opportunities. 

ACTION: to access funding and develop 
a bespoke Telford & Wrekin  Affordable 
Warmth Grant to support existing grant 
schemes from  2021/22.

ACTION: We will provide a ‘top up’ grant 
to cover the household contribution 
required to access affordable warmth 
grant schemes, namely through ECO 
finance, targeting at our most vulnerable 
tenants.

P
age 33



2322 Telford & Wrekin Affordable Warmth Strategy Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

Options to  
help keep 
those on low 
incomes warm 
and debt free.

Maximising Income and Benefitting the 
Local Economy

7

As the cost of energy and low household income 
are two of the major contributory factors in people 
suffering from fuel poverty, through our Strategy 
we will also deliver and support services that 
maximise income and encourage residents to 
find the lowest suitable energy tariff. We are also 
committed to ensuring local businesses benefit 
from opportunities to deliver energy and home 
improvement schemes where possible and to  
promoting the growth of the green energy sector  
encouraging innovation.    

Maximising Income 
Switch Telford – Telford & Wrekin Council’s energy 
supplier price comparison and switching site 
is open to all Telford’s businesses and homes 
including those on pre-payment meters. 

Since Switch Telford was launched in April 2017, 
there have been in excess of 1,755 switches 
and between January-June 2019 at least 10% 
of people switching saved £447 or more on their 
heating bills. There is a green energy option to 
support the climate change agenda.

ACTION: We will continue to promote 
Switch Telford to encourage and enable 
residents to regularly compare and 
switch energy suppliers to ensure value 
for money  innovation.

Telford Citizens Advice Energy Project – this 
Energy Advice Programme involves advising 
clients on energy issues including complaints on 
disputed bills with energy suppliers, dealing with 
energy arrears and applying for grants including 
supplier’s hardship funds. CAB offer support 
including presentations to groups, to promote  
energy awareness.

Wrekin Debt Advice – Free debt advice to all 
tenants of the Wrekin Housing Group that includes 
help and support on energy bills.

TEA (Telford Energy Advice) – provides access 
to income maximisation checks, as well as 
offering advice on funding available to vulnerable 
households including Winter Fuel Payment, Warm 
Homes Discount and Cold Weather payment.

ACTION: We will streamline access to debt 
advice through new web-site.

Case Study 
Wrekin Housing Groups Money Matters Team, 
were approached by a customer from South 
Telford, who was struggling with an energy 
debt of nearly £3000, and was finding it hard to 
prepare meals as their old cooker was broken. 

Our Advisor successfully secured a grant from 
the EDF Energy Fund to clear their energy 
arrears…and whilst we were waiting for the 
outcome of the EDF grant application we 
provided them with fuel vouchers so they could 
heat and light their home and cook food. We 
also successfully applied to the ‘Children in 
Need’ emergency essentials program for a new 
A Rated cooker for the family, 

We have now helped them to plan their 
weekly budget, with a good understanding of 
their average daily energy consumption and 
supported them onto an affordable payment 
plan for their gas and electric. They are now 
paying enough to not fall behind again, and 
we have helped to educate the household with 
managing their utility bills over the whole year 
to reduce the risk of arrears building up in the 
colder months.

ACTION: We will continue to support 
partners to deliver advice on fuel debt 
joining up offers and promoting them 
via our website and communications 
campaign.

P
age 34



2524 Telford & Wrekin Affordable Warmth Strategy Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

Improving Energy Efficiency & Raising 
Standards      

As an Authority we have a track record of delivering capital funding to address energy 
efficiency including the Green Deal Communities Fund under which 400 homes across 
the Borough benefitted from £4.9m of external wall insulation.  

8

As part of this Strategy we will develop 
opportunities to deliver larger scale energy 
efficiency programmes with the help of external 
funding and capital investment. We will also 
ensure we encourage the use of renewable 
technology in line with our Climate Change Plan.

Energy Company Obligation (ECO)  Since 
ECO was introduced in 2013, it has improved 
approximately two million homes nationally 
with the current Affordable Warmth scheme, 
running to 2026, entirely focused on low income 
and vulnerable households. We will ensure this 
is maximised and targeted  to communities in 
greatest need in Telford & Wrekin.

Local Authority Delivery Scheme (LAD) this 
Central Government funded scheme aims to raise 
the energy efficiency of low-income and low EPC 
rated homes (those with Band D, E, F or G).This 
includes those living in the worst quality off-gas 
grid homes, delivering progress towards reducing 
fuel poverty, the phasing out the installation 
of high carbon fossil fuel heating and the UK’s 
commitment to net zero by 2050.

LAD2 is administered by the Midlands Energy 
Hub. £59.95 million has been distributed 
across the greater West Midlands area for 
projects to be delivered in 2021. Telford and 
Wrekin’s initial allocation is £566,800 and we 
are currently working on a suitable bid with our 
partners which will target investment into key 
areas of the Borough, including South Telford, 
supporting residents across all tenures. This 
pilot scheme will concentrate on delivering high 
quality interventions benefitting approximately 
50 households and providing the basis to attract 
further investment.

Benefitting the Local Economy

Working with the Council’s Business Support Team we will 
maximise opportunities for local trades and suppliers to deliver 
capital works linked with the programmes in this Strategy and 
those the Council brings forward. We will also work together to 
inform local businesses of growth opportunities in the energy 
efficiency sector supporting them  to diversify and attract new 
inward investment and growing our green technology sector.   
We will work with the Telford Business Board and Marches Local 
Enterprise Partnership to attract further investment in this sector 
and encourage innovation.

Job Box – is an all age employment support service operated 
by the Council. Job Box offers help with accessing training, 
applying for jobs, updating CVs and connecting people directly 
into work.  We will work with Job Box to promote and deliver 
training and business opportunities within the heating and 
insulation market particularly and to promote job opportunities in 
the energy sector. 

ACTION: We will support local trades and suppliers to benefit 
from delivery of energy efficiency capital programmes 
wherever possible.

ACTION: We will support the development of the green 
energy sector locally. 

ACTION: We will promote employment opportunities through 
Job Box.

P
age 35



2726 Telford & Wrekin Affordable Warmth Strategy Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

8

West Midlands Combined Authority/ SHAP 
Project - Warm Homes Saves Lives is an 
ambitious programme to tackle fuel poverty 
across the West Midlands. The programme brings 
together local authorities, health sector and 
voluntary sector to target households that are hard 
to reach or invisible to mainstream programmes.  
This will be an on-going programme, with an initial 
demonstrator year. Telford & Wrekin Council will 
be contributing to the WMCA feasibility study 
and seeking to develop projects to  benefit  local 
residents.

ACTION: Develop retrofit programmes 
to improve insulation standards and 
reduce fossil fuel heating targeting 
our most vulnerable residents and 
areas with the highest levels of fuel 
poverty and supporting our Zero 
Carbon target of 2030.

Nuplace – Supporting a Low Carbon Future 
Nuplace Ltd, the Council’s wholly owned housing 
company, is now the largest private landlord in 
the Borough and setting a standard for quality 
in the sector. Nuplace latest phase of 320 new 
and refurbished homes will include measures to 
address carbon reduction and support affordable 
warmth. These benefits will be realised, wherever 
feasible, through improvements to the building’s 
fabric as well as the introduction of carbon 
reduction technology. Nuplace have already 
started delivering on this objective on their site 
at Southwater Way which is currently under 
construction. All properties are to have photo 
voltaic panels and electric car charging points 
to help reduce carbon emissions, reduce energy 
bills for tenants and work to address fuel poverty. 
In this way Nuplace are working towards a low 
carbon future. 

ACTION: Through Nuplace we will 
seek to set a standard for delivering 
energy efficient homes.

Registered Providers - We will be working with 
our RP partners on their plans to achieve zero 
carbon supporting them access national funding 
and ensuring investment targets our most 
vulnerable communities.

Better Homes for All - We will encourage private 
landlords to meet their Minimum Energy Efficiency 
Standards (MEES), by providing information 
and guidance, as well as access to some grant 
funding to improve the EPC rating of their property 
to the required band E. We hope to encourage 
and educate landlords to improve their properties, 
avoiding the need for enforcement.

Telford & Wrekin Council Temporary 
Accommodation – the Council owns and 
manages a  number of properties providing 
temporary accommodation for individuals and 
families who are homeless or threatened with 
being so. Where EPC’s are available, 74% 
of these properties are already EPC band C 
or above. We are committed to ensuring all 
properties are assessed and to raise the standard 
to band C or above, where required, ensuring they 
provide warm, safe homes for those who come to 
us in housing need.    

ACTION: To ensure that the 
accommodation that we own is EPC 
C rated or above and we continue to 
raise standards in carbon reduction 
linked with our Climate Change 
Strategy.    

P
age 36



2928 Telford & Wrekin Affordable Warmth Strategy Protect, Care and Invest to create a better borough

We will report annually on our Strategy and  
Action Plan (2021/22 Action Plan included at  
Appendix 1) Through our Annual Report we will 
set out the impact of our work to reduce fuel 
poverty, set out savings to services, where we 
are able, and the impact on reducing carbon 
emissions. We will also report on impacts on the 
local economy in terms of investment and jobs.

This update will be informed through our partners 
reporting quarterly and annually on the outcomes 
of the programmes. The information collected will 
include:

• Promotional activity 

• Number of households assisted

• Type of assistance 

• Average amount invested pre household

• Geographical take-up in areas by ward and 
lower super output area

• Take-up based on age 

• Take-up based on tenure 

• Measures installed including insulation and 
renewable sources

• Complaints and compliments 

• Referral’s into other schemes

• Breakdown of Match Funding where 
applicable

• Local fuel poverty figures and national and 
regional comparator data 

We will also report bi-annually to the Secretary of 
State under the Home Energy Conservation Act 
(HECA) 1995. This information is used to inform 
national fuel poverty policy.

External funding programmes will be monitored in 
accordance with the requirements set out by the 
funder, and will include anti-fraud mechanisms 
and adhere to any audit requirements.  

We will also put in place quality control 
mechanisms to protect residents, and use a local 
workforce wherever possible.

9

We will put 
in place 
quality control 
mechanisms, 
accountability 
against actions 
and use a local 
workforce 
wherever 
practical. 

External funding 

programmes will 

be monitored in 

accordance with the 

requirements set out 

by the funder, and 

will include anti-fraud 

mechanisms and 

adhere to any audit 

requirements.  

Evidence, monitoring and reporting

P
age 37



Supported Accommodation

Telford & Wrekin Council, Larkin Way,

Wellington, Telford, TF1 1LX

Email: mandy.findlay@telford.gov.uk

Tel: 01952 382176

Page 38



care and invest
to protect,

         

Our vision 

Telford & Wrekin’s Action Plan 

for Affordable Warmth 

April 2021

P
age 39



2Protect, Care and Invest to create a better boroughTelford & Wrekin Affordable Warmth Strategy 

Strategic 
Objective 

Status Priority Actions /Progress Target Date Partners

Overarching Ongoing Reduce the number of fuel poor 
households in Telford & Wrekin Local 
Authority area

• Work with 2018 baseline figure of 9.4%

• Work in areas in the borough with high levels of 
fuel poverty to close the gap on inequalities 

• Report bi-annually to Secretary of State through 
the HECA report on progress made and outside 
factors  we are unable to  influence 

• All actions to follow support this priority 

2025 All

Overarching New Have a positive impact on improving 
the health and well-being of the most 
vulnerable people in Telford & Wrekin 
by providing a warm and comfortable 
home 

• Work with Public Health and Social Care 
to meet the aims of the JSNA and Health& 
Wellbeing Strategy

• Report on savings to health services across the 
borough 

From April 
22 

Health and Social 
Care providers 

Telford & Wrekin 
Integrated Place 
Partnership (TWIPP)

Marches Energy 
Agency(MEA)

Overarching New Close the gap addressing those 
areas of the borough with the highest 
levels of fuel poverty reducing 
inequalities

• Maximise opportunities for grant funding and 
support for residents into the Safer Stronger 
Communities Programme priority areas

• Target opportunities from existing and new grant 
programmes to key communities and groups of 
residents in greatest fuel poverty

April 2021 All

Raising Energy 
Awareness 
and Providing 
Support

New Promote a single hotline for residents 
to access streamlined support and 
advice

• Work with MEA to increase the visibility and 
promotion of the existing hotline

April 21 MEA

Affordable Warmth Strategy Action Plan   

P
age 40



3Protect, Care and Invest to create a better boroughTelford & Wrekin Affordable Warmth Strategy 

Strategic 
Objective 

Status Priority Actions /Progress Target Date Partners

Raising Energy 
Awareness 
and Providing 
Support

Existing Continue to provide TEA free service 
that refers and advises residents into 
all energy efficiency schemes 

• Currently funded by Redress Money until June 
2022

• Source alternative funding to continue the 
service 

June 22  MEA

Raising Energy 
Awareness 
and Providing 
Support

Existing Provide grant assistance for fuel 
poor homes to become warm and 
comfortable

• Continue to refer into ECHO/CfW/HEART March 2022 MEA

AgilityECO

Raising Energy 
Awareness 
and Providing 
Support

New Provide a ‘top up’ grant to support 
access to existing grant support 
for vulnerable residents where 
household contributions are required

• Using the criteria established under the 
Council’s Eco Flex, provide a top up grant to 
enable vulnerable residents to access existing 
grant schemes

April 2021 MEA

Raising Energy 
Awareness 
and Providing 
Support

New Develop and Deliver a TWC 
Affordable Warmth Grant  

• Explore TWC and partner funding to support 
and replace above grants

• Ensure any regional or national funding is 
utilised to support 

• Work with local partners to ensure criteria meets 
the needs of the most vulnerable 

• Set-up delivery partners/ processes and 
monitoring system to deliver 

• Procure to ensure local installers are appointed 
to support local economy 

April 2022 Health and Social 
Care 

MEA

Local Installers 

Procurement 

ECO Funders

Raising Energy 
Awareness 
and Providing 
Support

New Refer into and support new national 
initiatives 

• Homes Upgrade Fund announced November 
2020

April 21 MEA

AgilityECO

P
age 41



4Protect, Care and Invest to create a better boroughTelford & Wrekin Affordable Warmth Strategy 

Strategic 
Objective 

Status Priority Actions /Progress Target Date Partners

Raising Energy 
Awareness 
and Providing 
Support

Ongoing Ensure ECO funding is available to 
ALL vulnerable groups identified in 
TWC area

• Publish Statement of Intent on council web-site

• Inform BEIS of link

• Publicise to local installers  

From Jan 21 Communications 
Team

Web Team 

Raising Energy 
Awareness 
and Providing 
Support

Ongoing/New  Design and develop communications 
plan to raise profile of all schemes

• Podcasts and live broadcasts

• Our Voice newsletter

• Up-date Web-site 

• Information to go out with Council Tax 
reminders 

• Flu Jab campaign 

• Create digital leaflet 

• Create diary of events to attend in conjunction 
with other council services and public health 

Start date 
Oct 21

Communications 
Team 

Public Health

MEA 

Raising Energy 
Awareness 
and Providing 
Support

New Create and deliver a bespoke training 
package to increase referrals and 
raise awareness 

• Identify groups to be trained including health & 
social care 

• Develop training material 

• Timetable in sessions to deliver 

From April 
21

MEA

Public Health 

Social Care 

TWIPP

CAB

Volunteer groups 

Raising Energy 
Awareness 
and Providing 
Support

New Establish post to work with health 
staff to reduce hospital admissions 
and “bed- blocking” by ensuring 
patients have access to reliable 
heating and hot water   

• Explore option of post with health partners

• Apply for redress funding 

April 21 MEA leading

P
age 42



5Protect, Care and Invest to create a better boroughTelford & Wrekin Affordable Warmth Strategy 

Strategic 
Objective 

Status Priority Actions /Progress Target Date Partners

Maximising 
Income & 
Benefitting the 
Local Economy

On-going Support partners to deliver advice on 
fuel debt and best deals 

• Work with CAB/MEA, Wrekin Housing Group 
and all Registered Providers (RP) to ensure 
residents are receiving consistent advice  

• Ensure income maximisation checks are being 
carried out

• Work with energy companies to ensure clients 
can access Priority Services Register and 
hardship funds 

Current  CAB

MEA

Registered Providers

Energy Companies

  

Maximising 
Income & 
Benefitting the 
Local Economy

On-going Ensure residents have access to 
national funding if they qualify 

• Information on Winter Fuel Payment, Warm 
Homes Discount and Cold Weather Payment on 
web-site and included in advice from partners

Feb 22 Communications 
team 

Web team 

MEA

CAB

Maximising 
Income & 
Benefitting the 
Local Economy

On-going Encourage residents to regularly 
compare and switch energy suppliers 
to ensure value for money  

• Actively promote Switch Telford Current TWC Commercial 
Services Team

Maximising 
Income & 
Benefitting the 
Local Economy

New Support local trades and businesses 
to benefit and support the local 
economy

• Promote opportunities for local businesses to 
deliver retrofit/home improvement schemes, 
wherever possible

• Support work to promote the green energy 
sector

• Work with Job Box to promote any resultant job 
opportunities  

April 21 TWC Business 
Support & Inward 
Investment Team

Marches LEP

Local businesses

P
age 43



6Protect, Care and Invest to create a better boroughTelford & Wrekin Affordable Warmth Strategy 

Strategic 
Objective 

Status Priority Actions /Progress Target Date Partners

Improving 
Energy Efficiency 
& Raising 
Standards

New Establish opportunities for  retrofit 
programmes to improve insulation 
standards and reduce fossil fuel 
heating  - in line with Zero Carbon 
target of 2030

• Apply for Local Authority Delivery funding (LAD) 

• Explore options to use Energy Company 
Obligation (ECO) funding

• Be actively involved with WMCA/SHAP Warm 
Homes Save Lives 

• Review business case for TWC Capital 
investment to deliver schemes  

From May 
21 

Midlands Energy Hub

Shropshire & 
Herefordshire Council 
(Marches partners)

SHAP

WMCA

Local Supply Chain 

Local Installers 

Improving 
Energy Efficiency 
& Raising 
Standards

New Consider options to enable  residents 
able to pay  to improve homes 
through the use of loans and private 
investment 

• Explore in light of forthcoming  national Green 
Homes Finance consultation 

2021 WMCA / SHAP

Improving 
Energy Efficiency 
& Raising 
Standards

New Enable a group buying scheme 
for domestic solar PV and battery 
storage e.g. Solar Together or local 
alternative

• To support the Council’s Climate Change Action 
Plan, to explore the options around a group 
buying scheme

2023-2025 Climate Change 
Officer

Commercial Services 
Team

Local businesses 

Improving 
Energy Efficiency 
& Raising 
Standards

New Assess the potential to establish 
a Virtual Power Plant (VPP) linking 
proposals for solar and battery 
systems for new build housing 
schemes, which would operate as 
part of a Virtual Power Plant (VPP).

• To support the Council’s Climate Change Action 
Plan, to explore the options for VPP

• Work with Wolverhampton University and 
Wrekin Housing Group on potential for battery 
systems 

2021-2025 Climate Change 
Officer

Local businesses

Wolverhampton 
University

Wrekin Housing 
Group

P
age 44



7Protect, Care and Invest to create a better boroughTelford & Wrekin Affordable Warmth Strategy 

* We will  work with all partners to ensure delivery of actions and where delivery is not possible to lead on re-evaluating the scheme in question. As a non-stock 
owning authority, we act as an enabler for partners to maximise delivery and investment into the borough to benefit our residents.   

Strategic 
Objective 

Status Priority Actions /Progress Target Date Partners

Improving Energy 
Efficiency

On-going /New To educate, encourage and enforce 
private landlords to meet Minimum 
Energy Efficiency Requirements 
(MEES)  

• Identify least fuel efficient properties across this 
sector

• Develop schemes to assist  landlords to 
improve energy efficiency and improve property 
standards

• Through Better Homes for All work on education 
and enforcement where energy performance 
falls below minimum standards 

• Respond to anticipated Government 
consultation  

Ongoing BEIS

Private Sector 
Housing Team

Improving 
Energy 
Efficiency& 
Raising 
Standards

On-going/New Ensure temporary accommodation, 
managed by TWC, meets or exceeds 
minimum energy efficiency standards 
where possible

• Assess baseline position 

• Acquire EPC’s for all accommodation 

• Establish investment proposals linked 
to Climate Change Action Plan to make  
improvements where needed  

On-going 
and April 
2023

TWC Housing 
Solutions Team 

Evidence, 
Monitoring & 
Reporting 

New Publish an Annual Report  on 
progress 

• Report annually through Cabinet updating on 
progress and development of the Action Plan  

From April 
22 Annually

All

Evidence, 
Monitoring & 
Reporting

New Partners to provide quarterly and 
annual up-dates on all areas of work 

• Receive/monitor delivery of actions sitting with 
partners 

From 
October 20

All

Evidence, 
Monitoring & 
Reporting

New Report to Secretary of State on 
Progress 

• Prepare and publish bi-annual HECA report May 21 and 
bi-annually

All

Evidence, 
Monitoring & 
Reporting

New Ensure that this strategy 
compliments and supports partners 
aims and objectives where possible 

• To maintain links with key strategies and policy 
areas including JSNA/ Climate Change Action 
Plan/ Better Homes for All and all connected  
national legislation 

On-going All

P
age 45



Supported Accommodation

Telford & Wrekin Council, Larkin Way,

Wellington, Telford, TF1 1LX

Email: mandy.findlay@telford.gov.uk

Tel: 01952 382176

P
age 46



 

 
 

TELFORD & WREKIN COUNCIL 
 
CABINET: 22ND APRIL 2021 
 
ALLSCOTT FREE SCHOOL PRESUMPTION 
 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION AND SKILLS 
 
LEAD CABINET MEMBER:  SHIRLEY REYNOLDS – CABINET MEMBER 
FOR CHILDREN YOUNG PEOPLE, EDUCATION AND LIFELONG 
LEARNING 

 
 
PART A) – SUMMARY REPORT 
 
1. SUMMARY OF MAIN PROPOSALS 
 

1.1 This report seeks approval to undertake a presumption competition to 

establish a new primary school at Allscott due to need arising from 

residential development in the area. 

 

1.2 An Academy sponsor needs to be identified to open the new school at 

Allscott to ensure there is sufficiency of school places in the local area 

for children moving to the new Allscott development. 

 

1.3 It is proposed that the new school would open in September 2023 and 

provide 150 new primary school places. 

 

1.4 The capital costs of delivering the new school will be met by the 

residential developer. 

 

 
 
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1  Cabinet to approve the commencement of the presumption competition 

to find a suitable school sponsor for the proposed Allscott Primary 
School. 

 

 
 

Page 47

Agenda Item 6



 

 
 

3. SUMMARY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  

 

COMMUNITY IMPACT Do these proposals contribute to specific Co-
Operative Council priority objective(s)? 

Yes 1. Every child, young person and 
adult live well in their 
community 

2. All neighbourhoods are a great 
place to live 

 

Will the proposals impact on specific groups of 
people? 

Yes  
Children and Families living within  
the Wards served by the proposed  
school.  

 

TARGET 
COMPLETION/DELIVERY 
DATE 
 

September 2021 

FINANCIAL/VALUE FOR 
MONEY IMPACT 

Yes The capital cost of the project will be 
met by the developer in accordance 
with a Section 106 agreement.  There 
will be revenue costs associated with 
opening a new school – the academy 
sponsor that is successful in its bid to 
run the school will expect the local 
authority to provide start-up funding.  
The amount will be decided through a 
negotiation with the sponsor and 
funded using the growth element of 
the annual Dedicated Schools Grant 
(DSG) allocation.  Once open, the 
school will be funded by DSG using 
the school funding formula that is 
applied to all T&W schools. 
 
TD 11.03.21 

LEGAL ISSUES Yes  Legal advice will be provided 
regarding the detail and 
documentation relating to any 
contract/procurement issues, the 
proposed property arrangements and 
the planning (Section 106) agreement  
variation referred to in this report.  
The Council has a statutory duty to 
secure that sufficient primary and 

Page 48



 

secondary schools are available for 
its area under Section 14(1) 
Education Act 1996. 
Arrangements for establishing new 
schools were changed when Section 
6A (the ‘free school presumption’) of 
the Education and Inspections Act 
2006 came into force in 2012.This 
requires that, where a local authority 
identifies the need for a new school in 
its area, it must seek proposals to 
establish an academy (free school). 
The final decision lies with the 
Secretary of State following a 
presumption competition carried out 
in accordance with the non–statutory 
guidance in The free school 
presumption : Departmental advice 
for local authorities and new school 
proposers published in November 
2019. 
 
KF/IR 10.03.2021   

OTHER IMPACTS, RISKS 
& OPPORTUNITIES 

Yes/No  There would be a risk to the Local 
Authority if the presumption 
competition did not go ahead as we 
would not be in a position to ensure 
the new primary school was 
operational within required 
timescales. Identification of a Sponsor 
will allow them to be involved in the 
detailed  design of the school, 
including the provision of furniture, 
location of fixtures. 
 
If the school build does not proceed 
or indeed it begins but is not 
completed by the developer then 
additional school places would need 
to be provided at existing schools and 
pupils in the new housing and any 
subsequent residential developments 
would need to travel significant 
distances to school. This would also 
result in additional transportation 
costs for the Local Authority.  
 
The Local Authority would be 
breaching its statutory responsibilities 
for the supply of school places if the 

Page 49



 

new school or additional places were 
not in place. To mitigate against this 
risk we would need to provide places 
at other primary schools and provide 
transport for pupils.  
 
Due to the small size of the school 
(150 place Village Primary) there is a 
risk that this may not be seen as an 
attractive proposition for a suitable 
sponsor. This risk can be somewhat 
mitigated by approaching suitable 
sponsors and working with the 
Regional School Commissioner’s 
office  in the soft marketing phase 
prior to the presumption. 
 
By securing developer funding for the 
school there is an opportunity for the 
Council to avoid the need for 
prudential borrowing in order to 
deliver its statutory duty to provide 
sufficient school places. 
 
The proposed school is being 
designed in such a way that it has 
potential to be  expanded to a 1 Form 
Entry (210 place school) if there is 
future demand from local residential 
development. The intial building will 
comprise core facilities for any future 
expansion to a 1 Form Entry school. 
 

IMPACT ON SPECIFIC 
WARDS 

Yes The creation of this new primary 
school will have the most impact on 
Wrockwardine ward within which it is 
located.  However, there is potentially 
Borough wide impact due to parental 
preference in choosing which schools 
pupils attend.  
 

 
4. PART B) - ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

 

4.1 The planning application (TWC/2013/0113) for the erection of a mixed 

use development, comprising of up to 470 dwellings, was determined 

on 05/05/2016.  The site requires a new school alongside the housing 

development to provide local infrastructure for the new community.  

Page 50



 

Adjacent schools sites are more than 2 miles from the development 

which is the DfE recommended maximum walking distances for pupils 

under the age of 8 and the council would incur transport costs 

transporting pupils to either of the school sites.  In addition the adjacent 

school sites are not suitable for expansion. 

 

4.2 The council secured funding for a new primary school via the S106 

agrement.  The developer, S J Roberts, is to fund and construct a new 

150 place Primary School on the former British Sugar site at Allscott.  A 

map of the school site is attached to this report at Appendix A.  

Development of the site commenced in January 2020 and of the 200 

properties in phase 1, 41 have been completed and 12 are now 

occupied.   The next stage of the development is for 41 dwellings which 

should be completed by spring 2022.  It is anticipated that the whole 

development will be complete by Spring 2028.  The Reserved matters 

housing site plan is attached to this report at Appendix B.  The school 

site and layout of the school is still at a preliminary stage and is yet to 

be confirmed, prior to submission of the reserved matters planning 

application. 

 

4.3 As Local Authorities are not legally allowed to open and run new 

schools, the process by which a new school is set up is through a free 

school presumption. This is a competition run by the Local Authority in 

conjunction with the Regional Schools Commissioner’s Office to 

identify a sponsor who will be responsible for running the school once 

built. 

 

4.4 Subject to receiving Cabinet approval to proceed, the presumption 

competition would be run in the second half of the summer term 2021 

and then following our review of the submissions the outcome of the 

competition would be passed to the Regional School’s Commissioner 

to make a final decision on the sponsor on behalf of the Secretary of 

State in the Autumn term 2021. 

 

4.5      The presumption competition consists of the following elements: 

 Consultation process with stakeholders and other interested 

parties. 

 Impact and equality assessments  

 Preparation of new school specification 

 Advertise/market the opportunity to prospective trusts 

 Assessment of proposals/submissions  

 Due diligence checks 

 Local Authority recommendation 

Page 51



 

 Secretary of State/Regional Schools commissioner approval. 

 

4.6 Outline planning consent for the school has been granted (as per the 

plans at appendix 1) and it is currently envisaged that the developer 

would submit the reserved matters planning application for the new 150 

place school in October 2021. Construction would then commence in 

May 2022 in order for the school to open in September 2023. 

 

4.7 The capital costs associated with the building of the school will be met 

by the developer. The developer now proposes to also build the school 

itself which will require a  variation to an existing S106 Planning 

Agreement which currently obliges the developer to make payments to 

the Council for the Council to undertake the school construction.  

 

4.8 Going forward, the developer will need to build a school that will be 

acceptable to a future Academy. The design of the school will be 

monitored by the BIT to ensure compliance with the relevant school 

building guidelines. It is anticipated that the property arrangements will 

involve the school site, being transferred to the Council and, after the 

school has been properly constructed/fitted out, the Council granting a 

125 year lease to the successful Academy sponsor. 

 

4.9 It is the Department for Education’s (DfE) expectation that any pre-

opening revenue costs as well as post-opening revenue costs in the 

first year are met through the revenue budget growth fund provided to 

LA’s by DfE. This is to be mutually agreed between the LA and the 

successful school sponsor.  

 

4.10 Allscott is one of two new schools providing additional primary places in 

the Borough. Proposals are currently being developed alongside the 

Department for Education for the provision of a further 420 place (2 

Form of Entry) Primary free school in Priorslee currently due to open in 

September 2024. Similarly to Allscott this school will provide school 

places to meet demand arising from significant housing development 

with 3,000 plus new houses proposed to be built in this area over the 

next ten years. 

 

4.11 There is also a significant increase in the demand for Secondary places 

in the borough with two secondary expansion projects being 

progressed which will provide 600 new Secondary school places when 

complete.  

 

4.12 300 places are being provided at Telford Langley at a cost of £4.9m, 

increasing the planned admission number from 180 to 240 in each year 

Page 52



 

group. The capital construction project is due to complete in time for 

this year’s September 2021 intake. 

 

4.13 A further 300 places will be provided at Holy Trinity Academy, subject 

to planning approval, following the proposed construction project which 

is due to start in summer 2021 with completion currently proposed for 

September 2022. The current estimated cost of this scheme is circa 

£7.8m.  This would see the intake rise from 150 in each year group to 

210. 

 

4.14 Alongside the increases in Primary and Secondary places in the 

Borough, a series of SEN Hubs are being developed to deliver 

additional SEN places. These hubs each provide 8 additional SEN 

places in mainstream primary and secondary settings. Two hubs are 

currently in place at Hollinswood and Old Park primary schools with 

four further hubs to be put in place over the next two years. 

 

4.15 One of the SEN hubs will be provided as part of a significant new build 

and remodelling scheme at the co-located Haughton and John Randall 

schools.  The overall remodelling and new build outturn cost is 

expected to be in the region of £7.6m and will provide additional SEND 

places. 

5. IMPACT ASSESSMENT – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 

Not applicable 
 
6. PREVIOUS MINUTES 

 
Not applicable 
 

 
Report prepared by Shane Billingham, School Organisation and 
Admissions.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Appendix A 
Site plan for the new free school at Allscott Meads 
 

Page 53



 

 
 
Appendix B 
Reserved matters housing site plan - Allscott Meads 
 
 

 
 

Page 54



 

Local Plan Working Group 

Recommendation Report 

Chair’s Introduction 

1.1 The Joint Chairs of the Working Group wish to note the collaborative and constructive 

manner in which the scrutiny review has been carried out. They thank the Group members for 

their hard work in what proved to be an intensive month long review.  

1.2 On behalf of the members of the Local Plan Working Group, the Joint Chairs wish to offer 

their thanks to all the officers and guests who contributed to the review. In particular, the Group 

would like to thank Gavin Ashford and Mark Latham for attending all of the meetings the Group 

held, being on hand to answer any and all of its questions. They also wish to extend their 

thanks to the two external speakers, David Lowe and Gary Grant, for offering their experience 

and expertise to this review. 

Background 

2.1 At the 11 November 2020 meeting of the Communities Scrutiny Committee, the Committee 

received a briefing from the Council’s Director: Housing, Employment & Infrastructure, the 

Strategic Planning Team Leader, and the Cabinet Member for Neighbourhood, Commercial 

Services and Regeneration. The Committee received briefings on specific policy areas and 

the form the Local Plan consultation would take. From the policy areas that were discussed, 

Members expressed their interest in the policy areas Biodiversity and Biodiversity Net Gain 

(Policy NE1) and Urban Greening (a proposed new policy).  

2.2 At the Committee meeting (11 November 2020), it was agreed that due to the cross-

committee nature of the Local Plan scrutiny of the proposals would be best served by a 

working group made up of Members from a variety of committees. 

 

2.3 Following this meeting, the Chair met with Officers and the Chair of the Environment 

Scrutiny Committee to discuss the form the review would take. It was decided that a joint 

working group of six Members, voluntarily drawn from across the Scrutiny Assembly should 

be formed. The review would take the form of a four-week rapid review with a weekly meeting 

and the possibility for additional meetings to be scheduled at the wishes of the group. The aim 

of the group was to conclude the review in sufficient time so as to allow recommendations to 

be made to the March meeting of Cabinet.  The first meeting of the group would be to receive 

a scene-setting presentation on the specific policy areas proposed for scrutiny by the 

Committee. Two evidence-gathering sessions were to follow, and then a final deliberations 

meeting would be held.  

Workshop 10 February 2021 

3.1 At its first meeting, on 10 February 2021, the Working Group approved its proposed terms 

of reference and received briefings on the referred policy areas from the Strategic Planning 

Team Leader and the Ecology & Green Infrastructure Specialist. The Cabinet Member for 

Economy, Housing, Transport and Infrastructure, the Director: Housing, Employment & 

Infrastructure, and the Associate Director: Policy & Governance also attended the meeting. 

The briefings set out the background and the way in which the policies would, if adopted, be 

applied and how scrutiny could add value to their development.  

Page 55

Agenda Item 7



 

3.2 The group heard that bio-diversity net gain was an approach to development and land 

management that aimed to create a measurably better natural environment than what had 

existed beforehand. As part of the Environment Bill, bio-diversity net gain would become a 

legal requirement in 2023. 

3.3 Members were informed that urban greening was a policy that evaluated and quantified 

the amount and quality of green infrastructure on proposed development sites. The policy 

scored elements of proposed schemes e.g. tree coverage, green walls, blue infrastructure. 

The policy was intended to integrate green infrastructure into developments, with 

environmental factors being addressed from the outset of the development process. 

3.4 Following the presentation, Members divided themselves into sub-groups to research one 

of the policies each so they could report to the following meetings. Officers provided Members 

with a list of potential contacts at other organisations seen to be experts or pioneers in the 

policies. Meetings with external contacts were suggested and the organisation of such 

meetings delegated to officers.  

 

Workshop 17 February 2021 

4.1 On 17 February 2021, the Working Group met for the second time. The Group received 

further presentations on bio-diversity net gain and urban greening from the Strategic Planning 

Team Leader and the Ecologist and Green Infrastructure Specialist. The Associate Director: 

Policy & Governance was also in attendance. Members discussed their initial research.  

4.2 The group heard that bio-diversity net gain was already integrated into a number of 

national policy documents and that locally the Local Plan Policy NE1 was net gain ready. Net 

gain was achieved through biodiversity units, which expressed the ecological and financial 

value of sites. Sites were audited and their biodiversity value assessed, developments would 

then be required to deliver a 10% bio-diversity uplift as set out in the Environment Bill. The 

gain could be delivered onsite or offsite through habitat creation and enhancement on 

individual land holdings or through habitat banks. Alternatively, it could be delivered through 

the purchase of statutory credits. By 2023, most developments in the Borough would need to 

deliver a minimum 10% biodiversity net gain. The Council would need to decide whether to 

vary the 10% minimum target and identify local priorities for net gain investment. 

4.3 As under bio-diversity net gain; developments would be assessed and scored. Under the 

urban greening regime, a development proposal would be assigned a score between zero and 

one, marked against various categories. This approach was considered a means to 

mainstream the delivery of green infrastructure. The urban greening policy would allow the 

planning authority to engage with developers at the pre-application stage, setting out 

expectations early in the development process. Delivery of green infrastructure would 

therefore be evidence based and ensured. 

 

Additional Session 22 February 2021 

5.1 The Group met on 22 February 2021 for a talk and question session with David Lowe, an 

ecologist at Warwickshire County Council. The Strategic Planning Team Leader and the 

Ecologist and Green Infrastructure Specialist also attended.  

Page 56



 

5.2 Mr Lowe provided Members with an overview of his work and the bio-diversity policies of 

Warwickshire County Council. Members heard about the way the policy was applied in 

Warwickshire and the lessons that officers had learnt from the seven years it had been in 

place.  

5.3 The group heard that bio-diversity was primarily intended to improve habitats and the 

environment as opposed to providing benefits for humans. Any benefits for residents that were 

derived from bio-diversity related mitigation should be considered a welcome bonus. Urban 

greening, on the other hand, could provide both ecological and human benefits. Flexibility had 

been key to the success of the policy in Warwickshire, with the Authority demonstrating an 

openness to both work with developers as they developed proposals but also to allow offsite 

mitigation where the benefits of doing so outweighed rigidity with regard to an onsite solution.  

 

Workshop 24 February 2021 

6.1 Members met again on 24 February 2021. The Group received a presentation from Gary 

Grant, Director: Green Infrastructure Consultancy Ltd., on urban greening. The Strategic 

Planning Team Leader, the Ecologist and Green Infrastructure Specialist, and the Associate 

Director: Policy & Governance were also in attendance. 

6.2 Mr Grant offered an overview of schemes across Europe and the United Kingdom, 

discussing the metric used to calculate the greening factor of a development and the ways 

greening could be implemented The reasoning that underpinned the green space factor was 

that an area would have more and greater quality green infrastructure as a result. It was 

particularly useful for planning officers as it enabled them to give a measurable value to 

applicants and work with them to develop a solution; additionally, it was useful for testing 

options at an early stage in development.  

6.3 Members were informed of a case study development in east London where the green 

space factor had been applied and had resulted in the addition of a green roof to a multi-storey 

housing development. The green roof, which was a direct result of the green space factor, 

raised the developments green space factor score considerably. Generally, the green space 

factor had increased the quality of application across London. This had resulted in a significant 

amount of new greenery.  

6.4 Following a question and answers session, the Group began formulating its 

recommendations to be proposed to Cabinet.  

 

Deliberations 

7.1 Throughout their discussions, the Group expressed a strong desire for any mitigations to 

be as close to developments as possible. Members were clear that the Borough should benefit 

from the uplifts associated with the policies. This arose particularly in discussions surrounding 

bio-diversity net gain, which is rooted in specifically protecting and enhancing habitats. There 

was also an eagerness for the Borough to benefit from the national credit system if possible, 

taking on the mitigations for projects out of the Borough that had no choice but to seek net 

gain through the national system.  

Page 57



 

7.2 Early in the review, Members had highlighted the need for mapping of existing and 

potential sites of green importance (e.g., green guarantee sites, local nature reserves, 

locations green links between such areas could be made). This was so that as opportunities 

arose the Council would be ready to act – such as identifying the green areas of the Borough 

that could be linked together. This was related to situations where the mitigations required by 

a development would have to be delivered off site. Members made clear that, where possible, 

mitigations should benefit the Borough’s residents; either, by being provided on publicly 

controlled land or, if possible, through an agreement with private landowners that would allow 

public access. It was noted that public access to land did impact the levels of biodiversity and 

Members discussed that public access to land would need to be appropriate for the specific 

site.  

7.3 The Working Group sought clarification on the level of greening required on sites which 

either had a negligible starting position (e.g. brownfield sites) or had been altered to be less 

green (e.g. by felling or soil stripping). Members heard that in the case of site alterations, past 

examinations, mapping, and aerial photography could be utilised to work out a more accurate 

score. In terms of urban sites that had a low starting point, there could be a minimum uplift 

and there would be opportunity to work with developers from early planning stages to ensure 

this. 

7.4 Members also expressed a strong desire for the Council to lead by example when it came 

to urban greening within the Borough. The possible role of NuPlace in demonstrating the 

possibilities for commercial developments was discussed, as was the potential of the Station 

Quarter development to pioneer urban greening. In the case of urban greening in London, and 

bio-diversity net gain in Warwickshire, Members heard that the policies had resulted in higher 

quality, more thoughtfully planned, development schemes. The general sense was that the 

policies did not inhibit development but rather prompted developers to alter their initial plans. 

The policies had also had a degree of flexibility that enabled collaboration between developers 

and planners in developing proposals.  

 

Recommendations 

Therefore, the Local Plan Working Group makes the following recommendation to Cabinet:  

- That bio-diversity net gain should, wherever possible, be delivered on the site 

that is being developed.  If this is not possible, then it should be delivered on a 

site agreed with the Council, such site to be as close as possible to the site being 

developed; 

- Where urban greening and bio-diversity net gain is provided off-site, efforts 

should be made to secure additional benefits, such as public access, where 

possible. To maximise public benefit, investment should in the first instance be 

directed to publicly owned land; 

- The provision of urban greening should be required of commercial and 

residential developments;  

- The working group recommends that an urban greening policy should be 

adopted and that the Council instructs an appropriate urban greening specialist 

to prepare evidence to support as high an urban greening factor as possible;  

Page 58



 

- Recommend that, unless otherwise required by the emerging Environment Bill,   

a policy requiring a bio-diversity net gain is adopted which distinguishes 

between major and minor developments with measurable net gain on minor 

developments and a minimum net gain requirement of 10% on major 

developments; 

- The working group recommends that the Council should seek to introduce bio-

diversity net gain and urban greening prior to both the formal adoption of an 

adopted local plan and the Environment Bill becoming law; and 

- That the Council should seek to lead by example in the fields of bio-diversity net 

gain and urban greening. The working group recognises that this cannot be 

written into the Local Plan but wish to see the Council adopt it as policy.  

 

The members of the Communities Scrutiny Committee support these recommendations.  

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	5 Affordable Warmth Strategy and Action Plan
	Telford and Wrekin Affordable Warmth Strategy
	Telford and Wrekin Affordable Warmth Action Plan

	6 Alscott Free School Presumption
	7 Local Plan Scrutiny Review Recommendations

